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Our Mission
As the ever present trusted partner, 
our mission is to protect the vulnerable 
and uphold the legacy of Victorians.

Our Role
State Trustees aligns its business 
objectives to three essential 
components of service provision:

 Protecting and 
creating legacy

We promote the 
importance of wills, 
executor services and 
trusts by reminding 
people that it’s the 
things we leave behind 
that say the most about 
who we are. 

 Creating a quality of life 
for the less fortunate 
and vulnerable

We draw attention to 
the importance of 
fi nancial administration 
through stories about 
maintaining a quality 
of ongoing daily living 
amidst life’s hardships.

 Protecting our elderly

We highlight the 
importance of powers 
of attorney whilst 
working to eradicate 
fi nancial abuse.

Our Approach
State Trustees’ service approach 
is based on three core principles:

We pride ourselves 
on listening carefully 
and prioritising 
community outcomes 
for Victorians. 

We prioritise the 
building of community 
relationships to 
educate and build 
awareness on the 
challenges State 
Trustees are 
passionate about.

We are continually 
developing new ways 
to improve the lives of 
Victorians. We do this by 
working collaboratively 
with Government and 
community sectors to 
ensure, at all times, that 
State Trustees’ services 
are of direct benefi t 
to the community.
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State Trustees is a  
State Government owned company  

– the Public Trustee for Victoria. 

Since 1851, under various predecessors,  
State Trustees has been providing administration,  

trustee and estate related services;  
often in circumstances where no other  

provider will meet these needs.

We play an important role in building awareness  
and educating the community to protect the  

legacy and financial affairs of Victorians.

We believe every Victorian deserves to live on.  
That’s why we provide an empathetic, dedicated,  

and client-centric service – the best interests  
of our clients are at the heart of  

everything we do.
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About State Trustees

State Trustees is the Public Trustee 
for Victoria – our predecessors  
have been serving the Victorian 
community for generations.

Our earliest history dates back to 1851, when we began 
administering deceased estates, and in 1866 we began 
managing the financial and legal affairs of people who 
were unable to do so, due to disability, mental illness  
or other circumstances.

State Trustees was part of a Government department until 
1987, when we transitioned to a statutory corporation 
within the Victorian Public Sector, before becoming  
a State Government-owned company in 1994.

Today, State Trustees operates in accordance with its 
constitution, performing functions for the public benefit 
by operating as efficiently as possible – consistent  
with prudent commercial practice – while maximising 
our contribution to the economy and wellbeing of the 
State of Victoria.

State Trustees operates from three office locations: 
Head Office in Footscray, a suburban office in 
Dandenong and a regional office in Bendigo.

Core Services

Executor Services – Estate 
Administration and Executor Assist

Personal Financial Administration

Trust Administration  
Inc. State Trustees Australia 
Foundation – Charitable Trust

Financial Power of  
Attorney Administration

Will and Powers of Attorney (PoA) 
Preparation – Will, PoA and 
Statutory Declaration kits

Victorian Will and Powers  
of Attorney Registry 

The Victorian Will Bank

Ancillary Services

Financial Planning

Genealogy Services

Investment Services

Legal Services

Taxation Services

Service Agreements

Victorian Civil and  
Administrative Tribunal  
(VCAT) Private Administrators 
Examination Agreement

Community Services Agreement 
– Department of Health and  
Human Services

State Trustees’ Products and Services
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2017 Highlights

Launched  
the Victorian  
Will & Powers  
of Attorney Registry
as a free service that allows Victorians to register  
the location of where critical documents are stored. 
Registering the whereabouts of a will or power of  
attorney helps executors and attorneys know where  
to find each document when the need arises.

15,500
Online and retail will  

and powers of attorney  
kits purchased

State Trustees  
provided over

$15 million
in public benefit  

to Victorians

Administration of the  
State Trustees Australia  

Foundation charitable trust,  
including distribution of 

$2.7 million
in grants

Over  

5,500  

Trust Clients

Over  

11,000 
Personal Financial 
Administration Clients

Over  

4,500  

Estate Beneficiaries

Over  

600  
Financial Power  
of Attorney Clients

Managed

$2.1 billion
of client assets  

under management  
and trusteeship
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Chair report

In 2017, State Trustees’ strategic 
focus has been on ensuring our 
business activities are aligned  
to our commitment to work for  
the public benefit of the Victorian 
community and economy. The core 
outcome of this strategic focus  
has been the delivery of a range  
of activities, products and services 
that make a difference to the lives 
of Victorians. This annual report 
highlights the record outcomes we 
have achieved for our clients and 
other stakeholders, including the 
delivery of sound financial results.

Our Public Benefit Strategy
The public benefit is at the forefront of all we do.  
We continually work to:

•	 Lead the market in personal financial administration, 
powers of attorney, wills, trusts and executor services; 

•	 Improve the financial stability of our clients;

•	 Protect each client’s legacy, remembering the things 
they leave behind and their wishes for those things 
are an important reflection of them; and

•	 Increase the awareness and prevention of financial 
abuse through education and the products and 
services we provide. 

In support of our Public Benefit Strategy, State Trustees 
operates with transparency, timeliness and objectivity. 
Core to the success of our Strategy is our collaboration 
with stakeholders and our building of community 
relationships which position State Trustees as a key 
organisation of influence in protecting the vulnerable 
and safeguarding the legacy of Victorians.

Activities
Our Public Benefit Strategy has strongly shaped our 
product and service delivery in the past twelve months. 
Among other improvements, we have implemented a new 
workflow tool and mail digitisation program which have 
been pivotal in improving our interactions with clients.  
At all times, our priority is to provide a seamless and 
efficient service that meets clients’ needs and 
expectations, while conscious of the expectations  
of the broader community about the operation of 
responsible corporations. 

4



Of equal importance to the community is our ability  
to listen and develop new products or services of value 
to Victorians. This year we launched a Victorian Will  
and Powers of Attorney Registry. The registry is a free 
service for all Victorians which allows people to register 
the location of their will and powers of attorney 
documents. This provides peace of mind that when 
these important documents are needed, they can be 
easily located.

State Trustees again proudly hosted the CONNECTED 
Art Exhibition. The exhibition is a dedicated event for 
people living with a disability or experience of mental 
illness to display and sell their artwork. This year’s 
exhibition attracted 225 entries of which 83 were 
shortlisted. Our launch event was a great success with 
the appearance of author Ben Pobjie who shared his own 
personal journey with mental health, and a performance 
by singer Ben Hazelwood. It was gratifying to see that 
almost all of the shortlisted entries were sold on the 
opening day of the exhibition which is a wonderful 
testament to the incredible talent in our community.

Acknowledgements 
I welcome our three new Directors who were appointed  
to the Board of State Trustees in the 2017 financial  
year – Andrew Nicolaou, Helen Hambling, and Theo 
Theophanous. I also acknowledge the important part 
played by former Directors, Chris Martin and Kathryn 
Watt, in the deliberations of the Board.

The diversity and broad expertise of the Directors on  
the Board has significantly benefited its role in guiding 
State Trustees in its work for the Victorian community.  
I thank all of the Directors for their contribution during 
the past twelve months.

Nonetheless, State Trustees’ achievements would not  
be possible without the dedication and hard work of  
our employees under the strong leadership of our Chief 
Executive Officer, Craig Dent, and his Executive Team.  
The Board thanks them all for their ongoing commitment.

The Honourable Professor Jennifer Acton  
Chair
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CEO report

I am pleased to report that  
State Trustees has once again  
had an outstanding year, with  
a strong focus on developing  
our people, improving our client 
experience, and showcasing  
our organisational benefit  
to all Victorians.

This year’s progress against our strategy and corporate 
plan is demonstrated by our corporate scorecard 
outcomes – these show we have exceeded each of our 
key performance indicators for the 3rd consecutive year.

Across the organisation, we have made significant 
improvements to client service, and we have continued  
to innovate with products and services to meet the 
needs of Victorians. At State Trustees we are committed 
to listening to the community; our research indicates that 
50 percent of people over the age of 18 years do not have 
a will – this is a number we are wanting to significantly 
decrease. State Trustees developed online will kits and 
retail will kits to enable people with simpler circumstances 
to draft their own will. We have sold 5,000 online will kits 
this year and furthermore, we have sold over 7,100 kits via 
retail outlets, such as Australia Post. This is in addition 
to the 2,500 wills that were drafted by a professional 
State Trustees Will Writer – we continue to write more 
wills than anyone else in the State, and we continue to 
advocate for people to protect their legacies. 

It was pleasing this year to again launch a new product, 
the Victorian Will and Powers of Attorney Registry.  
This is a free service that provides people with the  
ability to register the location of their will and powers  
of attorney documents, helping to eliminate the stress 
of family not being able to locate these documents  
when they are needed.
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Additionally, we partnered with the Office of the Public 
Advocate to update and refresh the Securing their 
Future Guide and the Administration Guide – two 
valuable resources for carers and administrators. 
Securing their Future is a guide created to help carers 
put in place some safeguards to ensure the person with  
a disability that they care for is properly provided for,  
if something were to happen to them. The Administration 
Guide is an informative and helpful publication for 
administrators who are authorised to manage the  
legal and financial affairs of another person.

We also continue to build relationships with other 
stakeholders and to work closely with the Victorian Civil 
and Administrative Tribunal and the National Disability 
Insurance Agency, to ensure we are remaining close  
to the needs of our clients.

State Trustees remains passionate about raising awareness 
of the tragic and growing incidence of financial abuse  
in our community. We want to educate people on one  
of the most underreported crimes, and I have made it  
a personal goal to get out to regional Victoria on a more 
regular basis to promote awareness of the topic, and how 
Victorians can protect themselves from financial abuse. 
This year I visited Sale, Wodonga, Geelong, Bendigo, and 
Ballarat and I plan on getting out to more regional areas 
in the next financial year. 

I am also extremely proud to announce that State Trustees 
and the Department of Health and Human Services have 
signed a new five-year Community Services Agreement, 
commencing 1 July 2017. This Agreement provides  
some funding for clients who do not have sufficient 
income or assets to be able to pay for our services.  
This is a wonderful outcome, enabling State Trustees  
to continue providing such important and valuable 
services to Victoria’s most vulnerable.

We are also doing our part to cut back on our carbon 
footprint by digitising our incoming mail and making  
a commitment to print less – ‘Be green, read from the 
screen’. We also introduced a new workflow tool, making 
it easier to allocate work and track progress on tasks, 
this is an enhancement for our people and the way they 
go about their daily tasks, and most importantly it will 
improve our service delivery for clients. 

In closing, I would like to thank the Chair of the Board, 
Jennifer Acton and all Board Members for their support, 
including our three new Directors, Andrew Nicolaou, 
Helen Hambling and Theo Theophanous. 

Finally, I would also like to thank my Executive Team  
for their enthusiasm, knowledge and support over the 
past year. It never ceases to amaze me how passionate 
and energetic our people are – it is always great to hear  
that people love what they are doing and how they  
are making Victorians’ lives better. Our continuous 
improvement in client outcomes is a testimony to our 
people, I would like to thank each and every one of them 
for their commitment. 

I am looking forward to another year collaborating  
with all the hardworking individuals that make this 
organisation a great place to work. 

Craig Dent 
Chief Executive Officer
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Our Strategy

Our various services – from  
financial administration and 
executor services, through to 
trustee services, will preparation 
and attorneyship services – are  
all focused on protecting the 
vulnerable and upholding the  
legacy of Victorians.

The 2017 Financial Year saw the commencement of 
State Trustees’ Public Benefit Strategy, which will see us 
continue to focus on doing the right thing for clients and 
investing in better ways to help and protect Victorians.

As the ever-present trusted partner of the community,  
we are proud to be an organisation that makes a 
difference in peoples’ lives.

The implementation of our strategy is underpinned  
by three strategic pillars: Trust, Pride and Value.
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Trust
Building client trust by acting in 
their best interests, providing a 
consistent and seamless service, 
delivering on service promises, 
and continuing to innovate 
to improve client experience.

Deliver on service 
promises
Ensure that our client service 
benefi ts the Victorian public, 
meeting their needs and 
expectations.

Provide a consistent, 
seamless service
Improve our processes 
and systems to grow our 
benefi t to Victoria, whether 
through mitigating risks 
and user issues or creating 
capability for the future.

Innovate to improve
Find new and better ways 
of improving the lives 
of Victorians.

Pride 
Building employee pride 
through a constructive service 
culture, further strengthening 
competence and talent whilst 
retaining the best people.

Grow our capability
Strengthen our service delivery 
by developing our teams’ 
capabilities and ensuring 
our high-potential employees 
are nurtured.

Enhance our culture
Maintain a constructive 
organisational culture 
that makes us an employer 
of choice in the community 
and public sector, leading 
to better outcomes for our 
clients and the community.

Value 
Ensuring fi nancial sustainability 
through mutually benefi cial 
outcomes for our clients, our 
key partner organisations and 
State Trustees, whilst seeking 
opportunities to further reduce 
costs for clients.

Work together 
with partners
Become a sought after 
partner, and be recognised 
for our expertise and value 
to the community. 

Ensure our sustainability
Continue to constrain costs, 
pursue profi table revenue, 
and ensure that technology 
investment is aligned to 
client delivery.

9
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Performance year on year

Trust

Measure Definition
Financial Year 

2015
Financial Year 

2016
Financial Year 

2017

Net Promoter 
Score (NPS)

The NPS is a world-recognised client feedback tool 
used to benchmark client advocacy. To calculate  
the NPS, we take the percentage of clients who  
are promoters and subtract the percentage who  
are detractors.

+12 +27 +38

Client Value 
Index (CVI)

The CVI is a feedback survey that measures the 
satisfaction of VCAT-appointed clients and support 
networks with our services. It was developed in 
consultation with the Department of Health and 
Human Services (DHHS) and Monash University.

77% 80% 80% 

Pride

Measure Definition
Financial Year 

2015
Financial Year 

2016
Financial Year 

2017

Employee 
Engagement

Organisational competency measures the proportion 
of employees who are considered highly skilled and 
fully trained. 

76% 82% 85%

Advocacy Advocacy measures the proportion of employees who 
actively recommend our services, and recommend 
State Trustees as a great place to work. 

42% 45% 61%

Value

Measure Definition
Financial Year 

2015
Financial Year 

2016
Financial Year 

2017

Earnings  
Before  
Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and 
Amortisation 
(EBITDA)

EBITDA is calculated as revenue less expenses 
(excluding tax, depreciation, interest and other 
comprehensive income).

$10.2m $11.5m $17.1m

10



Our people helping people

Public benefit is at the forefront  
of all that we do. Our people are 
dedicated to serving the community 
of Victoria. Employing people who 
want to work in an organisation 
that makes a difference to  
people’s lives gives our people the 
opportunity to live their passion for 
being of service to the community. 

State Trustees promotes a culture of engagement  
and advocacy that connects individual successes  
with the organisation’s mission and client experiences.  
Our people work collaboratively to deliver quality 
outcomes for our clients in a culture that celebrates 
individual and collective success. 

By developing service improvements and creating 
products that better enable us to deliver on our  
purpose, we remain focused on getting the best 
outcomes for our clients and our community.

State Trustees has a long history of promoting 
charitable causes, including enabling employees  
to donate to charities to make a real and long  
lasting contribution to the Victorian community.

11
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A testimonial from someone who used our executor 
assist service for probate and taxation services. 

‘My, what a task this has been, I don’t think our Dad 
would ever have imagined settling his affairs would have 
taken so long. My having had a small stroke just after 
Dad passed probably didn’t help things.

I suppose you meet a lot of people who are overwhelmed 
by the enormity of a loved one passing away. Thank you 
for your assistance. Please also pass on our thanks to 
the people who dealt with the ATO.

With the final tax money banked we can now close the 
books on Dad’s passing. I have attached a special photo 
my brother took of Dad. Dad was a devoted Hawthorn 
supporter and gained a lot of pleasure from following 
The Hawks. Once again, many thanks for your help.’

Our people helping people

Estate 
Administration
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Our people helping people

Trusts

I really appreciate your prompt assistance in undertaking 
this. It has been financially really helpful for me and  
my family to pay as much of this debt off as possible. 

I would also like to add that throughout the past years that 
my mother and I have been dealing with State Trustees, 
in particular the fund managers managing our trust,  
we have always been impressed with how friendly and 
helpful the staff have been.’

A testimonial from a Trusts beneficiary we assisted 
with the management of the funds held in trust  
for them.

‘I just wanted to send you a big thank you for your 
assistance in processing my request to pay my  
HELP fees with money in my Trust Account. 

State truSteeS 
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Client testimonial from our Estates and 
Attorneyships team

‘I … appreciate and value your somewhat quick  
to respond assistance with respect to my accounts. 
State Trustees is an invaluable service to me and  
I anticipate that I will leave my finances here  
indefinitely. Thank you and best wishes.’ 

Our people helping people

Attorneyships
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When State Trustees is granted the power to act  
as financial attorney, we help arrange, protect and 
manage the financial assets of people living amidst  
life’s hardships. We have been acting as Financial 
Attorney for Mary* since 1991 and learned that she had 
incurred a sizeable Centrelink overpayment amount  
to repay. Centrelink was looking to recoup from  
Mary a sum of $17,975 in Age Pension over payments.  
Upon investigation, State Trustees Pensions specialists 
uncovered a term deposit investment was established  
by Mary’s siblings following an inheritance from the 
estate of her late mother, and information about  
its existence was not disclosed to State Trustees.  
State Trustees’ expertise in the understanding and 
interpretation of the Social Security Act 1991 allowed 
our team to successfully waive the debt of $17,975 as  
we provided sufficient information about the special 
circumstances regarding the term deposit to  
Centrelink in a review of Mary’s case. 

*Real name withheld for privacy reasons.

Our people helping people

Financial 
Administration

STATE TRuSTEES 
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Nicholas* is one of the people State Trustees supports 
through our Personal Financial Administration service 
and we help to manage his everyday financial and legal 
matters. He lives with a neurological disorder and resides 
in a government funded care home. 

After his birth, Nicholas was adopted. Nicholas’s carers 
contacted State Trustees to help in their search to locate  
his birth mother. The work of our genealogy specialists 
led to us identify and locate Nicholas’s biological mother 
Sue who lives in Queensland. 

Working together with Nicholas’s carers and the Victorian 
Civil and Administrative Tribunal we facilitated a 
meeting between Nicholas and Sue and as a result of 
their reuniting, they have established regular contact. 
State Trustees has organised a computer to ensure  
Sue and Nicholas can communicate regularly via Skype. 
State Trustees is also very proud to know that Sue  
will be travelling to Victoria in 2017 to celebrate  
Nicholas’s 50th birthday. 

Our people helping people

Financial  
Administration/
Genealogy

* Real name withheld for privacy reasons.
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Andrew* died without leaving a will, without any  
known next of kin and as such State Trustees acted  
to administer his Estate. Based on the information  
on Andrew’s birth certificate, our genealogy specialists 
conducted a search of Scottish birth indexes that lead  
to the discovery Andrew had a brother living and residing 
in the Glaswegian family home. The family had lost 
contact with Andrew after he immigrated to Australia  
in the 1950s, and the news of his passing came as  
a shock to his sibling. We facilitated contact between 

Andrew’s friends, his local priest and his brother  
who received a benefit from his Estate. 

‘Just to confirm that I received your letter and the  
cheque from Andrew’s estate. I would to thank you  
for all the work you have carried out … and for all the 
endeavour to find the family here in Scotland. For this  
I am sincerely grateful … so this gives us closure and  
we know Andrew is at rest. Thank you all once again.’

Our people helping people

Estate  
Beneficiary

* Real name withheld for privacy reasons.
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Our people caring for our community

Financial abuse 
With a population that is aging, there is an increasing 
number of older people in our community. It is expected 
that this generation will produce a significant transfer  
of wealth between generations.

Financial abuse can and does happen. It is often  
a hidden and complex problem that is difficult to 
identify, hard to prove and can be challenging to  
rectify once it is discovered.

Women over 80 years, people experiencing social  
or physical isolation, people with deteriorating  
mental or physical health and people from culturally  
and linguistically diverse backgrounds are the most 
vulnerable due to their dependence on other people  
for their daily living needs.

Prevention and early intervention can make a real 
difference in safeguarding the assets of an older  
person. By far the best protection is to prepare an 
Enduring Power of Attorney for financial matters. 

Through our public awareness campaigns, community 
grants program, and partnerships with key public and 
community sectors, we educate members of the public 
and stakeholders within the health, disability and  
aged care sectors on the warning signs of financial 
exploitation, and work with organisations to help 
minimise the exploitation.

Environmental PaperLite program

As part of State Trustees’ commitment to environmental 
sustainability and to reducing our collective carbon 
footprint, we launched the PaperLite Project. The initial 

focus is to eliminate the delivery of hard copy mail  
to our people. As part of the PaperLite exploration,  
it was discovered that State Trustees was receiving 
17,000 pieces of mail every month. A digital solution  
was introduced to reduce the impact on the environment 
and, the waste this was creating – the implementation  
of a mail digitisation program that scans all incoming 
mail and is delivered direct to the desktop in a digital 
form eliminates the need for hard copies.

As a result of stimulating the discussion about 
conservation and the environment, State Trustees 
employees have also strongly embraced more conscious 
printing practices. Our people have committed to 
reducing their printing and are striving to save at  
least 32 trees per year in the next 12 months.

State Trustees’ is continually striving for ways  
to reduce printing and toner use, promoting a culture  
of environmental sustainability. 
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CONNECTED Art Exhibition 
Established in 2003 State Trustees’ CONNECTED Art 
Exhibition recognises the importance of celebrating  
art and culture as it enriches lives and communities  
and encourages social inclusion.

State Trustees’ CONNECTED Art Exhibition showcases 
the work of emerging artists with a disability or an 
experience of mental illness. It provides a platform for 
new and emerging artists – with a disability or experience 
of mental illness – to gain not only the experience of 
displaying work in a professional gallery environment  
but also provides a pathway to financial independence  
by giving them the opportunity to sell their work.

This year marked the 14th anniversary of the  
exhibition made possible with the support of our  
major sponsors Maurice Blackburn and Ern Jensen 
Funerals, as well as our secondary sponsors BDO,  
NOUS Group, Victoria University, Maddocks and  
Southern Metropolitan Cemeteries Trust. 

The 2016 winners were: First prize: Ehsan El Helou  
for ‘As One’; Second prize: Kaitlyn Bell for ‘Shapes  
With Blue and Purple’; Third Prize: Deb Bowers for  
‘Point Lonsdale Pier’; The Public Advocate’s Prize and 
Allan Merigan People’s Choice Award: Justine Martin  
for ‘More Than Is Seen’.

Artist: Ehsan El Helou

State truSteeS 
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State Trustees Australia Foundation (STAF)
The State Trustees Australia Foundation (the Foundation) 
makes a diff erence to the community by supporting 
those in need. The Foundation was established in 
1994 as a public charitable trust administered by 
State Trustees. The Foundation has a particular focus 
on helping those disadvantaged by aging, disability 
and mental health. In 2016/17, the Foundation continued 
its commitment to assisting organisations and people 
transition through disability and aged care reforms 
primarily through the work of the Aging, Disability 

and Mental Health Collaborative Panel. The Foundation 
also provided nearly $100,000 for dementia research 
and over $100,000 for projects to help disadvantaged 
children. For the fi rst time, the Foundation trialled 
a program aimed at funding programs that focused 
on the prevention and identifi cation of elder abuse.

Funded by donations and bequests from generous 
donors, the Foundation has distributed more than 
$27 million to charities since its inception.

Our people caring for our community (continued)
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Wholehearted Giving
Wholehearted Giving is a workplace giving program 
that encourages State Trustees’ employees to make 
fortnightly charitable donations in the form of salary 
deductions. Employees from each of State Trustees’ 
three offi  ces in Bendigo, Dandenong and Footscray 
donate throughout the year, and then select local 
charitable organisations as benefactors for the 
funds. During 2017, the Wholehearted Giving 
program supported: 

•	 MacKillop Family Services
•	 Moira 
•	 Bendigo Foodshare
•	 Bendigo Community Health Services
•	 Bendigo Family and Financial Services

Since 2010, the State Trustees Wholehearted Giving 
Program has supported 20 diff erent organisations, 
donating more than $100,000 across Victoria.

Charitable Giving
As part of the Grassroots Grants program, the State 
Trustees Australia Foundation granted YMCA $8000 to 
purchase a Sandcruiser beach wheelchair and universal 
swing harness. The equipment is available for visitors and 
residents with a disability to access the camp’s giant swing 
activity and the beaches in Anglesea, Airey’s Inlet and Lorne.

For Mother’s Day, Bohdan Philippa used the beach 
wheelchair to take his elderly mother to the beach. 
‘It’s one of the few things my mum can now still enjoy 
as it would be impossible without such a chair. There are 
very few gifts at 93 years that can really be appreciated 

however the simple gift of time and a nice afternoon 
just ambling along the beach would have to be one 
of the best things,’ said Philippa. ‘It brings back many 
fond memories of family holidays and all the good 
times had there.’ 

The Foundation’s Grassroots Grants program aims 
to promote social inclusion, and provide support 
for individuals to live independently and build and 
maintain physical, emotional and spiritual wellbeing 
and resilience, as well as reduce the incidence of adverse 
health issues that can limit their ability to live well.

STATE TRuSTEES
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Our people caring for our community (continued)

Launch of the Victorian  
Will & Powers of Attorney Registry
Not being able to locate an original will or powers  
of attorney document can be problematic and at  
times emotionally or financially draining on people  
to carry out the wishes of a loved one. 

As part our commitment to protecting the legacies  
of the people of Victoria we recognise the importance  
of being able to locate and access these important 
documents. With that in mind, we launched the Victorian 
Will and Powers of Attorney Registry, a confidential 
service for Victorians to record the location of their  
will and powers of attorney. The registry is a free service 

maintained by State Trustees that records details of 
completed will and powers of attorney documents and 
can assist executors and attorneys to locate documents 
with ease to ensure wishes are known and acted upon 
when the time comes.

Anyone making a will or preparing powers of attorney  
can register information about their will and power  
of attorney documents and where they are stored.  
For additional peace of mind, people may choose  
to store wills and powers of attorney documents  
with us in The Victorian Will Bank.
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Environmental  
Sustainability
State Trustees is committed to minimising the impact  
of our activities on the environment and have a number 
of initiatives in place across our offices to ensure we are 
an environmentally sustainable organisation including:

•	 Maintaining paper and waste recycling systems;

•	 Using laser printers and multi-function printers  
and photocopiers with energy saving features;

•	 Having computers with auto-off energy saving 
control software;

•	 Undertaking a cartridge recycling program  
for all printer and photocopier toners; and

•	 Having a motor vehicle fleet comprising  
of 25% hybrid vehicles.

As part of our environmental commitment State Trustees’ 
recycling program now includes organic waste disposal 
solutions to ensure that food products are disposed  
of separately to general waste. Organic waste is sent  
for composting as opposed to landfill. Additionally,  
State Trustees promotes a coffee pod recycling program 
in conjunction with Nespresso to ensure the correct 
disposal of coffee pods.

State Trustees has now exceeded 2 of its minimum 
NABERS targets and continue to improve on this  
number in 2017-2018. 

The NABERS agreed in the lease are as follows:

Minimum  
Target

Current 
Performance

NABERS Energy 4.5 Star 5.0 Star

NABERS Water 5.0 Star 5.5 Star

State Trustees Head Office in Footscray is a 5 Star  
Green Star building. Facilitated by the Green Building 
Council of Australia (GBCA), the aim of the Green Star 
program is developing a sustainable property industry  
for Australia by encouraging the adoption of green 
building practices.
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Corporate Governance Statement

State Trustees is committed  
to achieving and demonstrating  
the highest standards of  
corporate governance.

State Trustees’ core governance practices are  
consistent with the Victorian Public Sector  
Commission. State Trustees is a State Government 
owned company and operates as a corporation, 
registered with the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission (ASIC). As a State  
Government Business Enterprise (GBE) and the  
holder of an Australian Financial Services License,  
the Company is required to comply with several  
key pieces of legislation:

•	 State Owned Enterprises Act 1992;

•	 State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994;

•	 Guardianship and Administration Act 1986;

•	 Trustee Companies Act 1984; and

•	 Corporations Act 2001.

The Victorian State Treasurer is the sole shareholder  
of the Company. State Trustees reports to the Treasurer 
of Victoria, through the Victorian Department of Treasury 
and Finance.

Executive
The Chief Executive Officer develops and implements 
State Trustees’ operational and corporate plan and is 
accountable to the State Trustees Board for expenditure, 
operations and administration in accordance with State 
Trustees’ strategy, policies and legal requirements.  
The Chief Executive Officer and Executive team authority 
to act, is described in a formal instrument of delegated 
authority, approved by the Board.
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Board of Directors

Board Composition
State Trustees is governed by a Board of Directors, 
appointed by the Victorian Treasurer on behalf of the 
State of Victoria. Details of the Board members, their 
experience, expertise, qualifications and terms of office 
are set out in the Board of Directors section of the 
Directors’ Report.

Chair
The Chair is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring 
Directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant  
to their role and responsibilities, facilitating Board 
discussions, and managing the Board’s relationship  
with the organisation’s senior executives.

The Board’s Role
The Board’s role is to provide strategic guidance  
within a framework of prudent and effective controls  
that enables risk to be assessed and managed.

Independent Professional Advice and 
Access to Organisation Information
Each Director has the right to access all relevant  
State Trustees Executives, information and, subject to 
prior consultation with the Chair, may seek independent 
professional advice from a suitably qualified adviser  
at the organisation’s expense.
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Board Processes
The full Board held ten meetings in the year,  
plus strategy and extraordinary meetings as needed  
to address specific significant matters as and when  
they arose. When formal Board meetings were not 
scheduled, Directors received update reports from  
the Chief Executive Officer.

The Chair, Chief Executive Officer and Company 
Secretary prepare meeting agendas. Standing items 
include the Chief Executive Officer’s report, updates 
from Board Committee meetings, financial reports, 
strategic matters, governance, risk management  
and compliance.

Governance Review
The organisation, the Board and its committees 
continue to monitor governance arrangements  
on an ongoing basis.

Continuing Professional  
Development
The Board has a policy on continuing professional 
development to encourage its Directors to further 
develop their skills and expertise through  
high-quality learning and professional  
development opportunities.

Conflict of Interest
Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing 
basis, of any interests that might potentially conflict with 
those of State Trustees. Directors are guided in this area 
by Board-developed procedures on disclosing potential 
conflicts of interest. Where the Board believes that  
a significant conflict exists, the Director concerned does 
not receive the relevant Board papers and is not present 
at the meeting while the relevant matter is considered.
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Board Committees

The Board has established  
a number of committees to  
help it perform its duties and  
allow detailed consideration of 
complex issues. The Company 
Secretary and the management 
representative responsible  
for preparing the relevant 
committee’s papers review  
each committee’s charter at  
least annually. Any recommended  
changes to committee charters  
are submitted to the respective 
committees, and any changes  
that are approved are then 
submitted to the Board for  
its approval.

The standing Committees during  
the Financial Year 2017 were:

•	 Audit and Compliance Committee;

•	 Digital Transformation Committee;

•	 Investment Committee;

•	 Remuneration Committee;

•	 State Trustees Australia Foundation  
Advisory Committee; and

•	 External Stakeholder Engagement  
Transformation Committee

Generally, committee structures and membership  
are reviewed annually. In the case of the STAF Advisory 
Committee, members who are not State Trustees 
representatives are appointed for three years.

Each committee has its own written charter setting  
out its roles and responsibilities, composition, structure, 
membership requirements and the manner in which  
the committee operates.

Audit and Compliance Committee
The Audit and Compliance Committee oversees the 
financial reporting and corporate accounting policies 
and controls monitoring of the organisation’s compliance 
with all relevant legislative and regulatory obligations.
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The Committee is responsible for approving the internal 
audit program conducted each year. The internal auditors 
help the Board ensure compliance with internal controls 
and risk management programs by regularly reviewing 
how well the compliance and control systems function.

The Auditor-General is the organisation’s official external 
auditor, but he has contracted State Trustees’ external 
audit to HLB Mann Judd. State Trustees outsources the 
internal audit function to BDO Australia Limited.

Digital Transformation Committee
The Digital Transformation Committee oversees  
the implementation of Information Communication 
Technology (ICT) investment. The Committee  
assesses and monitors business risks as they relate  
to ICT investments and monitors expenditure and 
business plan targets.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee oversees policies and 
frameworks governing client’s investable assets,  
the State Trustees Investment Funds and the Corporate 
investment portfolio. The key functions of the 
Committee are to oversee the actions of management  
in relation to the supervision of policies and frameworks 
governing client’s investable assets and determine the 
investment objectives and strategic asset allocations  
for the State Trustees Investment Funds, corporate 
investment portfolio and State Trustees Australia 
Foundation (STAF).

Client Investments
State Trustees offers clients a suite of eight managed 
funds for investment purposes. This suite includes the 
Cash Common Funds 1 and 2, inveST Diversified Income 
Fund, inveST Balanced Fund, inveST Property Fund, 
inveST Australian Equity Fund, inveST International 
Equity Fund and the Charitable Common Fund. The Cash 
Common Funds are managed both internally and 
externally through managed cash products. All other 
investment funds are managed by Russell Investments,  
a leading provider of investment services, on a fund  
of funds basis. The funds are governed by a board 
subcommittee that oversees each fund’s investment 

objectives, strategic asset allocation and risk parameters, 
having considered the risk profiles and return objectives 
of our clients. Both Russell Investments and the State 
Trustees Investment Committee reviews each fund’s 
investment strategy annually to ensure each fund 
continues to meet our clients’ objectives. 

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee makes specific 
recommendations on remuneration packages and  
other employment terms for the Chief Executive Officer 
and other senior executives. Remuneration of executives 
is determined with reference to the Government Sector 
Executive Remuneration Panel (GSERP). The Committee 
also makes recommendations to the Board on 
superannuation arrangements and has oversight of 
succession planning for key roles within State Trustees.

State Trustees Australia Foundation 
(STAF) Advisory Committee
The role of the STAF Advisory Committee, which  
meets at least twice a year, is to recommend how  
the STAF income should be distributed to, or benefit, 
eligible charitable recipients. Grants for this purpose  
are generated from income earned on donations  
where the donors have not made binding directions  
for grants to specific charities.

External Stakeholder Engagement 
Transformation Committee
The External Stakeholder Engagement Transformation 
Committee was formed to assist the Board to fulfil its 
corporate governance and overseeing responsibilities in 
relation to the Company’s public and government relations.

The committee’s responsibility encompasses strategic 
direction and evaluation on opportunities to leverage 
and promote Government ownership to build a trusted 
and considered brand, and the implementation and 
ongoing development of the Stakeholder and 
Communication Plan.
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Code of Conduct

State Trustees is committed  
to operating ethically and has  
a code of conduct setting out  
the expectations of how we  
as an organisation conduct  
our business, manage and treat  
our clients and, our colleagues.  
We act with honesty and  
integrity at all times.

The code of conduct contains specific clauses relating  
to confidentiality, email and information technology, 
conflict of interest, and personal behaviour. It expressly 
addresses dealing with breaches and non-compliance 
with the code.

Confidentiality
Employees are expected to maintain and respect  
the confidentiality and privacy of clients’ and other 
employee’s personal and financial information. 

Employees must not use or disclose any confidential 
information for any unauthorised purpose, including  
for personal use or to benefit a third party. An essential  
part of employment arrangements is adherence to the 
code of conduct.

When dealing with represented persons’ affairs, 
employees must adhere to the secrecy obligations set  
out in section 17 of the State Trustees (State Owned 
Company) Act 1994. State Trustees is also subject  
to other privacy obligations that include the Privacy Act 
1988, Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014 and Health 
Records Act 2001.

Conflict of Interest
In accordance with the code of conduct, employees  
are required to take care to avoid actual or apparent 
conflicts of interest between their private affairs  
and State Trustees’ business. Conflicts of interest  
are situations where an employee has a personal  
interest that may influence (or even appear to  
influence) the way they perform their official duties.

The code of conduct is regularly reviewed to reference 
updated and emerging issues and cross reference other 
policies from which conflict issues can arise. 

The code of conduct is published on the State Trustees 
intranet and all employees are required to confirm 
annually that they have read and understood it.
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Protected Disclosures Act 2012

State Trustees is committed  
to the aims and objectives of the 
Protected Disclosures Act 2012. 

State Trustees does not tolerate its directors, employees, 
contractors or service providers at any level acting 
improperly at any time, nor does it tolerate the taking  
of reprisals of any sort against those who come forward 
to disclose improper conduct.

State Trustees’ Protected Disclosures  
Organisational Guidelines are made available  
on the State Trustees website:

www.statetrustees.com.au

State Trustees is not a body that can receive  
disclosures of improper conduct under the Protected 
Disclosures Act 2012. However, State Trustees is a body  
in respect of which disclosures of improper conduct  
can be made. A person wanting to make a disclosure of  
improper conduct about State Trustees or its directors 
or employees or contractors or service providers must 
do so to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption 
Commission (IBAC).

IBAC Contact Details
Phone: 1300 735 135  
Fax: (03) 8635 6444

Street address: 

Level 1, North Tower,  
459 Collins Street, Melbourne, VIC 3000

Mail: 

IBAC, GPO BOX 24234, Melbourne, VIC 3001

Web: 

www.ibac.vic.gov.au
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Occupational Health and Safety

State Trustees is committed  
to protecting the health, safety  
and wellbeing of all employees, 
contractors, clients and visitors.  
We strive to accomplish this 
through the continual development 
and support of a culture that 
embraces wellbeing, health  
and safety as a priority.

State Trustees’ Occupational Health & Safety 
management system is in place to ensure that  
we are constantly reviewing and assessing risks,  
and, where necessary, implementing changes  
to reduce risks to ensure the safety of our people. 

The State Trustees Occupational Health & Safety 
Committee is one of our specific work health and  
safety programs which consists of health and safety 
representatives who are members of a designated  
work group and have been elected and hold office  
in accordance with the provisions of the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act 2004. The primary responsibility 
of the committee is to facilitate cooperation between 
management and employees in developing and carrying  
out measures designed to ensure a safe and healthy 
working environment.
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Community Services Agreement

A Community Services Agreement 
has been in place between State 
Trustees and the State since 1994.

The agreement provides a reimbursement for some  
of the costs of administering the legal and financial 
affairs for those clients who would otherwise not have  
the funds to access these services.

The Community Services Agreement applies to those 
services which are statutorily nominated, including 
tribunal appointed financial administration and deceased 
estate administration as well as some funding for 
vulnerable Victorians to access attorneyship and  
trust administration services.

Some government funding is provided to State Trustees 
as part of this agreement and services are provided 
under legislation that includes the State Trustees  
(State Owned Company) Act 1994, Administration and 
Probate Act 1958, Trustee Act 1958, and Guardianship 
and Administration Act 1986.

Represented Persons
The Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) 
appoints State Trustees as an administrator for the legal 
and financial affairs of people who are deemed unable to 
make reasonable judgments in respect of their affairs due 
to disability or mental illness. State Trustees administers 
the financial and legal affairs to approximately 11,000 
represented people, managing their assets with a 
cumulative value in excess of $1 billion.

Any person may apply to VCAT seeking the appointment 
of an administrator. They may nominate a person such 
as a family member, friend, accountant, solicitor, State 
Trustees or a private trustee company who they consider 
could undertake the role. The Public Advocate may also 
apply to VCAT to appoint a guardian or administrator  
or to review appointment arrangements. In cases where 
the applicant does not nominate an administrator, or 
VCAT considers the nominee unsuitable – for example, 

where there is significant family conflict – VCAT may 
appoint State Trustees or another suitable administrator.

Subject to the Guardianship and Administration Act 
1986 and the administration order, an administrator:

•	 Is responsible for managing the represented  
person’s estate;

•	 Takes possession and care of, recovers, collects, 
preserves, and administers the property and estate, 
and generally manages the represented person’s 
financial and legal affairs; and

•	 Exercises all rights relating to the estate that the 
represented person might exercise if they had the 
ability to do so.

In exercising such wide powers, the legislation requires 
an administrator to act in the represented person’s best 
interests. As administrator, State Trustees takes into 
account the represented person’s wishes and tries  
to encourage and help them to become capable of 
administering their own estate wherever possible.

Code of Conduct
When dealing with represented persons’ affairs, 
employees must adhere to the secrecy obligations  
set out in section 17 of the State Trustees (State  
Owned Company) Act 1994 and the confidentiality 
requirements of the Victorian Civil and Administrative 
Act 1998 (Vic).
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State Trustees takes the 
stewardship of clients’  
affairs seriously. 

Our employees are carefully selected to ensure they are 
empathetic to clients’ needs, ensuring they act in our 
clients’ best interests at all times, empowering clients 
towards greater independence wherever possible.

AGAC provides a national forum for State and Territory 
agencies that protect adults with a decision making 
disability through adult guardianship and administration. 
We follow the 12 national standards as provided by 
AGAC that set out minimum service levels to be provided 
to individuals by a financial manager. The standards 
complement legislative and other policies, principles  
and practices, codes of professional conduct and ethical 
behaviour, privacy and confidentiality of personal  

information and records, and other requirements,  
which financial managers need to meet in each  
State and Territory.

The standards cover:

•	 Providing the client with information;

•	 Ensuring client views and involvement  
are taken into consideration;

•	 Advocating for the client as necessary;

•	 Protecting client assets;

•	 Protecting and respecting the client’s legal rights;

•	 Making payments to the client and for the client;

•	 Investing client money;

•	 Making financial decisions with the client;

•	 Recording client information;

•	 Reviews of the client Order;

•	 Respecting client privacy and confidentiality; and

•	 Being professional.

Australian Guardianship and 
Administration Council (AGAC) 
National Standards
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Compliance and Risk Management

Risk Management
The Board oversees State Trustees’ risk  
management processes.

The risk management framework is structured and 
transparent. Built on the Risk Management Standard  
AS/NZS 31000:2009, it allows State Trustees to identify, 
assess and manage risk across the company systematically 
and consistently. The framework also defines reporting 
processes to manage exposures at an appropriate level 
across the organisation.

The Risk Management Committee comprises of key 
senior managers, who are responsible for supporting the 
Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to 
the identification, assessment, and management of risk, 
whilst adhering to internal risk management policies  
and procedures.

Working with the Executive and senior management,  
the risk management team supports management with 
the mitigation of risks, through proactive identification 
and development of controls. The team also monitors and 
regularly reports to both the Board and the Executive  
on the status of risk across the organisation.

Compliance and Control
State Trustees is committed to meeting strong compliance 
and ethical standards. A Compliance Policy guides State 
Trustees in meeting ongoing and continuously changing 
compliance requirements and obligations.

The policy, which overarches an annual Compliance plan, 
reflects the Company’s commitment to compliance.

The Audit and Compliance Committee of the Board 
oversees all compliance responsibilities and issues.

To help more effectively manage financial services 
compliance responsibilities, State Trustees has  
a management committee titled the Australian  
Financial Services (AFS) Licence Committee.

The Committee reviews and monitors ongoing 
compliance with AFS licence obligations.

The Committee’s key responsibilities include:

•	 Reviewing key risks to compliance;

•	 Resolving AFS licence issues;

•	 Assessing materiality of compliance breaches  
and recommending remedial action; and

•	 Ensuring that all employees are trained to understand 
their compliance responsibilities and the processes 
for managing, reporting and rectifying breaches.

Fraud Control
State Trustees has a number of management systems, 
processes, controls, training and procedures directed at 
preventing, detecting and minimising the risk of fraud.

The Risk Committee of Management comprising of key 
senior managers, apply oversight of the management 
systems and oversee the investigation of any fraud 
matters. All findings and recommendations are reported 
to the Chief Executive Officer and the State Trustees 
Audit and Compliance Committee of the Board.

Business Continuity Planning
State Trustees has a Business Continuity Policy that 
defines its approach to the management of business 
disruption and provides the minimum standard  
to ensure the effective management of such risk  
in order to support the achievement of the company’s  
business objectives.

Business Continuity Plans are designed to ensure  
that critical processes continue if a serious unplanned  
event occurs that can disrupt the business.
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Financial Statements 
for the year ended 
30 June 2017
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this fi nancial statement covers 
both State trustees Limited as 
an individual entity and the 
consolidated entity consisting 
of State trustees Limited and 
StL Financial Services Limited.

State trustees limited is a state government 
owned enterprise. Its registered offi  ce and principal 
place of business:

1 Mcnab Avenue
Footscray, Victoria 3011

A description of the nature of the consolidated 
entity’s operations and its principal activities is 
included in the Report of operations on pages 40–48, 
which is not part of this fi nancial statement.

the fi nancial statement was authorised for issue 
by the Directors on 24 August 2017.

Contents
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49 B.  auditor-General’s 
independence declaration
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Ministerial Standing Direction 3.7.1
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67  5. Other assets and Liabilities

69  6.  How we Financed 
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71  7.  risks, contingencies and 
valuation judgements

83  8. Other Disclosures
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A. Directors Report of Operations

State trustees Limited’s Board  
of Directors is pleased to present 
the economic entity’s financial 
statements as at 30 June 2017.

1. Board of Directors

Directors of State trustees limited in office during the 
financial year were:

Jennifer acton 
llB(Hons), llM, Bec, Mec, GAICD

appointed: 1 December 2015

experience: the Honourable professor Jennifer Acton is 
the Chair and a non-executive Director of the Company. 
Jennifer is also an Adjunct professor of law at Monash 
university, the Deputy Chair of Westernport Water and  
a Director of the port of Hastings Development Authority. 
She has previously been a Director in the transport and 
education industries.

Jennifer has particular expertise in strategic development, 
continuous improvement, stakeholder engagement, 
collaborative conflict resolution, workplace relations 
and sound governance. She has been a leader in many 
areas, and has more than 20 years’ experience as a 
presidential member of industrial tribunals. In her work 
she has successfully facilitated major industrial outcomes 
for the infrastructure, services and manufacturing 
sectors and driven enterprise productivity improvements.

Jennifer was awarded the Centenary Medal in 2001  
for her significant contribution to Australian society.  
She has a reputation for promoting an ethical agenda.

Sue O’Connor 
B App Sci, Grad Dip Bus Mgt, FAICD

appointed: 3 December 2013

Sue has served as a Chairman, Director and senior 
business leader with ASXtop10 and global listed 
companies and high profile statutory authorities.  
She brings to the board her commercial acumen and 
deep expertise in technology, transformation, utilities, 
superannuation, financial services and climate change.

Sue’s board contributions ensure that customer facing, 
technology dependent companies – particularly those 
operating in regulated and disrupted markets – 
successfully transform to achieve their growth goals.

She is currently Chair of Yarra Valley Water and  
a Director of Mercer Superannuation, transport 
Accident Commission, State trustees limited and 
ClimateWorks Australia and an Advisory Council 
Member of the Monash Sustainable Development 
Institute. Her executive career included 13 years  
as a senior executive at telstra Corporation.

Sue holds a Bachelor of Applied Science and a Graduate 
of Diploma Business Management. She is a Fellow of  
the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Pamela (Pam) Mitchell 
B.Bus, Dip Fin Services, CA

appointed: 3 December 2013

experience: pam is a Chartered Accountant with 
extensive experience in the start-up, financial planning 
and prudent financial management of superannuation 
funds in a range of small and medium-size enterprises  
in the corporate, government and not-for-profit sectors.

pam has held many board roles and has been Chief 
Financial officer and Company Secretary of a number of 
investment and property businesses including Industry 
Superannuation property trust, Becton Investment 
Management limited and Australian Farms Fund 
Management pty ltd.

pam is currently a director of Fed Square pty ltd and  
is on the Audit Committee of Department economic 
Development, Jobs, transport and Resources.
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Mark toohey 
MAppFin, BBus (Acctg), FCA, FCpA

appointed: 1 December 2015

experience: Mark toohey is a non-executive Director  
of the Company. Mark is also the Chief operating officer 
and Chief Financial officer for Museums Victoria.

Mark was previously Chief Financial officer for Chandler 
Macleod, executive Director and Chief Financial officer 
for Ge Capital in Asia and Australia, and held executive 
finance roles at AnZ Banking Group. He is currently  
a Councillor and the Resources Committee Chair for 
Victoria university as well as Director and Finance 
Committee Chair for the not-for-profit oC Connections.

Mark has a Masters of Applied Finance and Bachelor  
of Business (Accounting). He is a Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants Australia, a Fellow of CpA 
Australia and a member of the Australian Institute  
of Company Directors.

Cressida Wall 
llB(Hons), BA(Juris)

appointed: 1 December 2015

experience: Cressida Wall is a non-executive Director of 
the Company. Cressida has 15 years experience leading 
long term strategy and leadership experience at senior 
levels in the public sector.

Cressida is currently Director, SBDo pty ltd, Director/
Head of Corporate Affairs for Betterview.com. Cressida 
has extensive Government and public policy experience 
gained through working as Head of policy Development 
for former premier John Brumby; Chief of Staff to tim 
pallas Mp, former Minister for Roads, ports and Major 
projects; Senior Infrastructure Adviser to former premier 
Steve Bracks; Chief of Staff to former Deputy premier 
and treasurer of South Australia; and Chief of Staff to 
the former Attorney General of South Australia.

Cressida has also worked as a Solicitor for Corrs Chambers 
Westgarth and Minter ellison. Cressida has a Bachelor of 
laws (First Class Honours), Graduate Certificate in legal 
practice and Bachelor of Arts (Jurisprudence).

Helen Hambling 
BA, Mpubpol

appointed: 21 February 2017

experience: Helen is a non-executive Director of the 
Company. Helen has worked as a senior executive for  
the Australian Government in areas including disability, 
housing, homelessness, Indigenous affairs, childcare, 
gambling, child protection and family services

Helen has also worked as Chief of Staff for several 
Commonwealth Ministers and has extensive experience 
in Australian public policy. More recently Helen has 
provided policy and communications advice as an 
independent consultant to governments and  
not-for-profit organisations.

From 2013 until 2016 Helen was the independent 
advisor to the inaugural Chair of the Board of the 
national Disability Insurance Agency, Dr Bruce 
Bonyhady AM.

andrew Nicolaou 
FCA, GMAID, Fellow IpAA

appointed: 3 December 2016

experience: Andrew nicolaou is a non-executive 
Director of the Company. Andrew is a Senior partner 
with pwC, leading the organisations Government 
practice in Victoria.

Andrew is a recognised leader in Financial and Risk 
Management Reform, Governance and performance  
in the public Sector and has significant experience with 
Government and private Sector Boards, Audit & Risk 
Committees. Andrew has a strong knowledge of 
financial management, risk and regulatory frameworks 
and is a highly regarded subject matter expert across 
Australian Government jurisdictions.

Andrew has a Bachelor of economics and has 
undertaken a postgraduate course with InSeAD; he is 
also a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a Certified Internal Auditor. He is a Fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and the 
Institute of public Administration Australia and a 
member of the Risk Management Institute of Australia.
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A. Directors Report of Operations (continued)

theo theophanous 
BA (Hons)

appointed: 4 April 2017

experience: the Honourable theo theophanous is  
a non-executive Director of the Company. theo is a 
former Victorian Government Minister, who has held  
a number of senior portfolios. He brings to the Board  
a range of skills in governance, accountability, strategic 
thinking and negotiation.

Highlights of theo’s Ministerial career include: as  
energy and Resources Minister, introduced the Victorian 
Renewable energy Scheme, construction of Basslink and 
largescale wind facilities. As Industry and trade Minister, 
negotiated packages to bring etihad, Qatar and other 
airlines to Victoria, hybrid car production and largescale 
investment. As Major projects Minister, developed AAMI 
stadium, Major Hospitals, Recital Centre and a range of 
other projects. As ICt Minister, helped bring IBM to 
Ballarat, supercomputer to Melbourne university  
and investment in the digital economy.

theo served on the Board of nICtA and steered the 
transition to Data61 as part of CSIRo. He is currently  
on the Board of the Victorian planning Authority and  
is a specialist advisor to a number of Ceo’s in the  
private sector. theo is a media commentator, has 
written many articles published in mainstream media, 
especially the Herald Sun, and actively advocates  
for Diabetes awareness.

Kathryn Watt  
BA, llB, Masters in Corporations and Securities law, 
GCtM, MAICD

appointed: 9 october 2014

resigned effective: 13 october 2016

Christopher (Chris) Martin  
llB (Hons), B ec (Acc)

appointed: 27 August 2013

retired: 26 August 2016

Other Officers

Craig Dent – Chief executive Officer  
MBA, FIMl, MAICD

appointed: 2 December 2013

experience: An award-winning Senior executive who 
builds and leads high performing teams to deliver 
transformational change in large volume, complex  
and highly regulated environments.

Recognised for his leadership across community, 
corporate and government organisations, Craig has 
successfully implemented innovative and sustainable 
operating models that are both customer-centric  
and profitable.

In December 2013, Craig was appointed to the role  
of Chief executive officer at State trustees; the 
organisation has undertaken significant transformation 
under his leadership with a focus on people, innovation, 
efficiencies and culture, with the client being at the 
centre of all decision-making.

In August 2017, Craig’s inaugural book “the Creation  
of trust” will be released which tells the intriguing story  
of the public trustee sector, its history and future.

Craig is a council member of the Central Asia/Middle 
east Region for Variety – the Children’s Charity 
International and is an official Ambassador to  
Australia’s multicultural broadcaster, SBS.

An alumnus of leadership Victoria, Williamson 
Community leadership program, Craig has also received 
an International exemplary leader Award from the Chair 
Academy for Advances in Academic and Administrative 
leadership, and has been recognised by the Institute  
of Managers and leaders for his contribution to the 
Australian business community, receiving the highest 
endorsement that can be awarded; Fellow status.
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In 2015 Craig was conferred with the title of Adjunct 
Industry Fellow within the Faculty of Business and law, 
Swinburne university and in 2016, Craig was conferred 
with the title of Adjunct Fellow within the College of 
Business, Victoria university and became an Associate 
of the Melbourne Business School in 2017.

Craig also became an Alumni of the Harvard Business 
School in Boston, uSA having successfully completed 
studies during 2016.

A long-time advocate for higher education, Craig 
lectures at universities and speaks by invitation on 
leadership, strategy and management. Craig holds  
a Master of Business Administration from Swinburne 
university where he is currently a phD candidate  
within the Faculty of Business and law.

Craig is also a member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and the Harvard Business Review 
Advisory Council.

Sandhya Chakravarty – Interim Chief Financial Officer  
MA (econ), MBA, CpA, GAICD 

appointed: 23 May 2017 

experience: Sandhya (Sandy) is the Interim Chief Financial 
officer of State trustees.

Sandy is responsible for the financial, investment, project 
management, procurement, internal audit and risk 
functions of the organisation. 

Sandy has extensive senior financial and corporate 
services experience across global multinationals such  
as Bristol-Myers Squibb, Ingersoll-Rand and Boston 
Consulting Group. Most recently she was the Chief 
Financial officer at Australian Red Cross.

She specialises in developing and maintaining high 
performing corporate services functions to support  
and enable stakeholders in delivering outcomes.  
Sandy has provided commercially astute solutions that  
enable organisations to meet its goals in a sustainable 
way; this includes expanding operations in Asia-pac, 
setting up shared services centres and the delivery  
of financial sustainability models. 

partnering with boards and leadership teams in 
developing strategic and operational plans within  
risk frameworks and mission focus and enabling 
implementation, Sandy has lead and built high 
performing teams through inspiring, motivating  
and empathetic leadership. 

Sandy has ten years of Board of Directors experience  
in nFp industry and a mentor to leadership program 
attendees at leadership Victoria. 

She is currently a non-executive Director at the 
International Women’s Development Agency, link 
Community transport and at the Health Issues Centre.

agata Jarbin – executive General Manager, 
Professional Services 
Bec (Hons), llB

appointed: 8 September 2014

experience: Agata Jarbin is the Senior executive 
responsible for professional Services; including will and 
power of attorney preparation, corporate and client 
legal, taxation, financial planning, property, pensions 
and genealogy services. Agata prides herself on 
delivering exceptional customer service which in turn 
enables the delivery of great outcomes.

Agata is also General Counsel and Company Secretary, 
leading the compliance team and corporate governance 
at State trustees.

Agata is a lawyer with over 20 years of experience in a 
range of industries. Agata was a partner of King & Wood 
Mallesons. one of her roles in King & Wood Mallesons 
was that of staff partner, with responsibility for people 
issues in the Melbourne dispute resolution group.
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A. Directors Report of Operations (continued)

Agata was appointed to the Board of ermha limited on 
1 June 2015 and was elected as Chair of the Board on 
23 September 2015. Agata is an advocate for disability 
services and creating a community that better services 
those with special needs.

Agata is an alumnus of leadership Victoria’s Folio 
Community leadership program and has a Diploma of 
International Arbitration, Graduate Diploma of legal 
practice, Bachelor of law (Hons) and Bachelor of economics.

Melanie Lewis – executive General Manager,  
Client Services

appointed: 3 March 2014

experience: Melanie lewis is the executive General 
Manager, Client Services. Melanie has worked at State 
trustees for more than 13 years, including her time as the 
organisation’s first Regional Manager (Western region).

Melanie brings a commitment to delivering the highest 
possible service to all clients and has a thorough 
understanding of State trustees’ personal financial 
administration, deceased estate administration, trust 
administration and enduring power of attorney 
administration services.

She is committed to ensuring that State trustees is 
highly regarded by creating a constructive service 
culture, with clients at the heart of all decisions made.

prior to State trustees, Melanie specialised in personal, 
commercial and corporate lending as well as a number  
of audit roles.

Melanie has participated in the Committee for Melbourne’s 
Future Focus Group, a two-year leadership development 
course, of which she is now in an Ambassador role.

Michelle Johnston – executive General Manager, 
People, Brand & Communications 
DipMgt, CAHRI, MCIpD

appointed: 4 December 2013

experience: Michelle Johnston is the executive General 
Manager, people, Brand and Communications. Michelle 
is a Senior executive with over 20 years’ experience – 
responsible for strategically leading the promotion and 
protection of the organisational brand, the development 
and enhancement of products and services, and the 
attraction and retention of competitive talent.

Michelle leads a team of professionals accountable  
for all corporate communications and media relations, 
cultural transformation, leadership development, 
organisational learning, talent acquisition, employee 
and industrial relations, occupational health and safety, 
facilities management, insights and research, product 
development and management, marketing, brand 
protection and promotion, change management, and 
the delivery of the organisational strategy.

Michelle is a passionate advocate and supporter of 
equality, diversity and inclusion, and mental health 
initiatives. She also believes that core to the success  
of any business are the people within it, she is a firm 
believer that an exceptional client experience is achieved 
through highly engaged employees who are proud to 
advocate on behalf of their organisation.

Michelle is a Certified professional of the Human Resource 
Institute of Australia (AHRI), a Member of the Chartered 
Institute of personnel and Development (uK), and a 
member of the Corporate executive Board (CeB) Advisory 
panel. Michelle’s success in cultural transformation and 
organisational change was recognised by the Australian 
Human Resources Institute in 2013.

Michelle holds a Diploma in Management and is an 
alumnus of the esteemed leadership Victoria, 
Williamson Community leadership program.

Paul Manning – Chief Financial Officer 
BSc (Hons), ACA

appointed: 31 December 2013

resigned effective: 2 June 2017
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A. Directors Report of Operations (continued)

2. Directors’ meetings

Director Board Meeting

Audit and 
Compliance 
Committee

Investment 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

StAF^ 
Advisory 

Committee

Digital 
transformation 
Committee^^

external 
Stakeholder 
engagement 

transformation 
Committee^^^

a H a H a H a H a H a H a H

Jennifer Acton (a) 8 8 2(k) 2(k) 5 5 2 2 0 0 1 1 1(k) 1(k)

Chris Martin (b) 1 2 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0

pam Mitchell (c) 7 8 4 4 5 5 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sue o'Connor (d) 6 8 4 4 3(l) 5 1(k) 1(k) 0 0 1 1 0 0

Kathryn Watt (e) 2 2 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Mark toohey (f) 8 8 4 4 5 5 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cressida Wall (g) 8 8 4 4 0 0 2 2 2 2 0 0 1 1

Andrew nicolaou (h) 3 4 2 2 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

Helen Hambling (i) 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

theo theophanous (j) 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

A number of meetings attended.

H number of meetings held during the time the director held office exclusive of leave of absence.

(a) Jennifer Acton was appointed as Chair of the Investment Committee on 20 october 2016.

(b) Chris Martin was Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee until 25 August 2016 and  
his Director term ended on 26 August 2016.

(c) pam Mitchell was reappointed as a Director on 3 December 2016.

(d) Sue o’Connor was reappointed as a Director on 3 December 2016.

(e) Kathryn Watt was Chair of the Investment Committee and resigned as a Director on 13 october 2016.

(f) Mark toohey was appointed as the Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee on 25 August 2016.

(g) Cressida Wall was appointed Chair of the StAF Advisory Committee on 20 october 2016 and Chair  
of the external Stakeholder engagement transformation Committee on 20 February 2017.

(h) Andrew nicolaou was appointed as a Director on 3 December 2016.

(i) Helen Hambling was appointed as a Director on 21 February 2017.

(j) theo theophanous was appointed as a Director on 4 April 2017.

(k) Director is not a member of this Committee.

(l) Sue o’Connor’s non-attendance at Investment committee meetings was due to a potential conflict of interest.

^ StAF stands for State trustees Australia Foundation.

^^ Digital transformation Committee was dissolved from 25 August 2016.

^^^ external Stakeholder engagement Committee was formed on 20 February 2017 (and later renamed as the external Stakeholder 
engagement transformation Committee).

* In addition, all Directors attended other meetings with Management in the discharge of their duties.
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3. Principal activities

State trustees limited’s principal activities during the year were acting as trustee, executor, financial administrator, 
attorney and provider of other fiduciary and agency services.

4. Dividend

In keeping with the Victorian Government dividend policy of distributing 50% of operating profit after tax  
to the shareholder, the Directors recommend a total dividend of $4.693 million for the 2016/17 financial year 
(2015/16: $1.569 million).

2017 
$000s

2016 
$000s

Final dividend* 4,693 1,569

total dividends for the year 4,693 1,569

* the final 2017 dividend is not payable until approved by the shareholder. Accordingly, State trustees limited has not made a provision  
for the dividend in the current accounts.

5. review of operations

the current reporting period has seen State trustees 
limited continue on the strategic journey of change  
and process improvement to improve our services.

We have continued our process improvement program 
to drive efficiencies through the business in order to 
improve our client service. We have improved internal 
reporting on client assets, started our move to reduce 
our processing via paper and continue our push into 
digital technology and automation. At all times, our 
priority is to provide a seamless and efficient service that 
meets clients’ needs and expectations, while conscious 
of the expectations of the broader community about  
the operation of responsible corporations.

each year we survey represented persons referred to  
us through a Victorian Civil and Administrative tribunal 
order. overall satisfaction with State trustees rated  
79.6 per cent, ahead of our target of 75 per cent.

Financially, it has been a year of strong results with profit 
before tax of $12.204 million (2016: $5.512 million) and 
profit after tax was $9.385 million (2016:$3.141 million). 
the strong profit result reflects a year where continued 
investment in developing our people and improving 
processes has been delivered which in turn has led to  
a strong revenue result.

State trustees limited offers clients a suite of eight 
managed funds for investment purposes. this suite 
includes the Cash Common Funds 1 and 2, inveSt 
Diversified Income Fund, inveSt Balanced Fund, inveSt 
property Fund, inveSt Australian equity Fund, inveSt 
International equity Fund and the Charitable Common 
Fund. the Cash Common Funds are managed both 
internally and externally through managed cash products. 
All other investment funds are managed by Russell 
Investments, a leading provider of investment services, 
on a fund of funds basis. the funds are governed by  
a Board subcommittee that oversees each fund’s 
investment objectives, strategic asset allocation and  
risk parameters, having considered the risk profiles  
and return objectives of our clients. Both Russell 
Investments and the State trustees limited’s Investment 
Committee reviews each fund’s investment strategy 
annually to ensure each fund continues to meet our 
clients’ objectives.
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A. Directors Report of Operations (continued)

6. Significant changes in the state of affairs

there were no significant changes in the state of affairs 
other than those referred to in the financial statements 
or attached notes.

7.  Matters subsequent to the end of the  

financial year

there are no circumstances which have arisen since 
30 June 2017 not otherwise dealt with in this report that 
have significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of State trustees limited, the results of those 
operations or the state of affairs of State trustees 
limited in subsequent financial years.

8. Likely developments and future results

the financial year 2017 marked the commencement  
of our public Benefit Strategy. our refined strategic 
purpose is to be the ever present, trusted partner  
of the community.

this purpose is outlined in State trustees’ constitution, 
which states that we are to perform functions for the 
public benefit by:

•	 operating our business and pursuing its undertakings  
as efficiently as possible, consistently with prudent 
commercial practice; and

•	 Maximising our contribution to the economy  
and wellbeing of the State of Victoria

the implementation of our public Benefit Strategy will 
strongly influence our product and service delivery over 
the next twelve months, which may see a reduction in our 
profits as we re-invest back into the Victorian community.

the Directors advise that there are no likely 
developments in State trustees limited’s operations or 
expected results in future financial years to report other 
than what is reported above and in this report.

9. Insurance

During the financial year, State trustees limited paid a 
premium under a contract insuring specified officers 
against liability incurred in their capacity of working on the 
company’s behalf. those officers consist of the Directors 
of State trustees limited named earlier in this report, the 
Company Secretary, and other officers of State trustees 
limited including certain officers whose functions include 
exercising executive decision making powers of State 
trustees limited and its related bodies corporate.

Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount 
of premium is prohibited by the confidentiality clause of 
the contract of insurance. State trustees limited has not 
provided any insurance for an auditor of State trustees 
limited or related body corporate.

10. reserve fund

State trustees limited has complied with the provisions 
of the trustee Companies Act 1984 that requires a 
reserve fund to be created and set aside by authorised 
trustee companies. this is reflected in the financial 
statements at note 8.4.

11. auditors’ independence declaration

A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration, as 
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001, is set out on page 49.

12. rounding amounts

the amounts contained within this report and the 
financial report have been rounded to the nearest 
$1,000 (where rounding is applicable) under the option 
available to State trustees limited under ASIC Co 
98/0100. State trustees limited is an entity to which  
the Class order applies.

this report is signed in accordance with a resolution  
of the Board of Directors.

the Honourable Professor Jennifer acton  
Chair

Mark toohey 
Director

Melbourne, 24 August 2017
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B. Auditor-General’s independence declaration

 

 

 
 
 

Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
To the Directors, State Trustees Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for State Trustees Limited and its controlled entity for the year ended 30 June 2017, I declare 
that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

 no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit. 

 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

  

MELBOURNE 
28 August 2017 

Andrew Greaves 
Auditor-General 
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C. Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing 
Direction 3.7.1

I, the Honourable professor Jennifer Acton certify  
that State trustees limited has risk management  
processes in place consistent with the Ministerial 
Standing Direction 3.7.1 – Risk Management  
Framework and processes.

the Honourable Professor Jennifer acton  
Chair
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D. Comprehensive Operating Statement  
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017

Consolidated entity Notes
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Continuing Operations

Commissions and fees 2.1 53,337 48,092

Community Service Agreement Income 2.1 18,031 17,678

other income 2.2 859 663

total income 72,227 66,433

expenses from continuing operations

employee benefits expense 3.1.1 39,431 39,069

Depreciation and amortisation expense 4.1.1 4,846 6,004

lease rental charges – operating leases 3.1 4,623 4,725

Audit expenses 8.8 180 201

other operating expenses 3.1 10,943 10,922

total expenses 60,023 60,921

Profit from continuing operations before income tax equivalent 12,204 5,512

Income tax equivalent expense 8.3.1 2,819 2,371

Net profit 9,385 3,141

Other economic flows – comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to net result:

net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets(a) – –

Income tax equivalent (expense) – –

total other economic flows  
– Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax – –

total comprehensive result 9,385 3,141

the accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

(a) ‘net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets’ includes unrealised and realised gains/(losses) from revaluations, impairments, and disposals of all 
physical assets and intangible assets, except when these are taken through the asset revaluation surplus.
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E. Balance Sheet 
as at 30 June 2017

Consolidated entity Notes
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

aSSetS

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 4.3.2 7,262 9,289

term deposits 4.3.1 14,100 6,000

Investments in managed investments 4.3.1 17,535 10,073

Contractual receivables 5.1 13,180 11,392

Advances to clients 5.1 2,275 2,275

Deferred tax assets 8.3 4,356 3,714

prepayments 5.3 1,743 1,685

total financial assets 60,451 44,428

Non-financial assets

property, plant, and equipment 4.1.2 16,469 18,544

Intangible assets 4.2 6,742 8,145

total non-financial assets 23,211 26,689

total assets 83,662 71,117

LIaBILItIeS

payables 5.2 9,875 7,196

Income tax equivalent 8.3 2,864 660

employee entitlements 3.1.2 6,683 6,815

Deferred tax liabilities 8.3 55 77

total liabilities 19,477 14,748

Net assets 64,185 56,369

eQuItY

Contributed equity 8.1 17,361 17,361

Reserves 8.4 17,333 17,080

Retained profits 29,491 21,928

total equity 64,185 56,369

the accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated entity Notes
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Cash flows from operating activities

receipts

Commissions and fees received 51,731 47,164

Community Service Agreement income received 17,577 17,408

Corporate investment income 637 663

total receipts 69,945 65,235

Payments

payments to suppliers and employees (52,412) (55,852)

payments of income tax equivalent (1,280) (2,187)

total payments (53,692) (58,039)

Net cash flows from operating activities 6.1 16,253 7,196

Cash flows from investing activities

purchase of property, plant, and equipment (1,369) (2,262)

proceeds from redemption of corporate investments 2,010 –

payments for investment in corporate investments (17,351) (6,000)

Net cash flows from investing activities (16,710) (8,262)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid (1,570) (975)

Net cash flows from financing activities (1,570) (975)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (2,027) (2,041)

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the financial year 9,289 11,330

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 4.3.2 7,262 9,289

the accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

F. Cash Flow Statement 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017
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G. Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017

Consolidated entity

Contributed 
equity 
$000s

asset 
revaluation 

reserve 
$000s

retained 
earnings 

$000s

General 
reserve 
Note 8.4 

$000s
total 

$000s

Balance at 1 July 2015 17,361 – 20,110 16,733 54,204

net Result for the year – – 3,140 – 3,140

Dividends paid to owners – – (975) – (975)

profits transferred to/from general reserve – – (347) 347 –

as at 30 June 2016 17,361 – 21,928 17,080 56,369

net Result for the year – – 9,385 – 9,385

Dividends paid to owners – – (1,570) – (1,570)

profits transferred to/from general reserve – – (253) 253 –

as at 30 June 2017 17,361 – 29,491 17,333 64,185

the accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1. about this report

these annual financial statements represent the audited 
general purpose financial reports for State trustees 
limited for the period ended 30 June 2017. the purpose 
of this report is to provide users with information about 
State trustees limited stewardship of resources 
entrusted to it.

State trustees limited is a state government owned 
company, which has been classified as a for profit entity. 
State trustees limited is a company limited by shares, 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. the State of 
Victoria is the sole shareholder. Its registered office and 
principal place of business is:

1 Mcnab Avenue 
Footscray, Victoria 3011

the nature of the operations and principal activities  
of State trustees limited are described in the report  
of Operations, which does not form part of these 
financial statements.

Basis of preparation

these financial statements are in Australian dollars and 
the historical cost convention is used unless a different 
measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note 
associated with the item measured on a different basis.

the accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements whereby 
assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are 
recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, 
regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to 
be made about financial information being presented. 
the significant judgements made in the preparation of 
these financial statements are disclosed in the notes 
where amounts affected by those judgements are 
disclosed. estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on professional judgements derived from 
historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

the financial report is presented in Australian dollars 
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
($000) dollars unless otherwise stated.

Compliance Information

the financial report is a general purpose financial  
report, which has been prepared in accordance with  
the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, 
Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) which include 
interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB).

Principles of consolidation

these are the consolidated financial statements for 
State trustees limited and its controlled entity 
collectively referred to as the “Group”. the Statement of 
Financial position of the parent is disclosed in note 8.6.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,  
all intercompany balances and transactions, income  
and expenses and profit and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full.

each subsidiary is fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is obtained by the Group and cease to  
be consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred out of the Group.

H. Notes to the Financial Statements
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(a) New accounting standards and interpretations – not yet effective

Management are still reviewing the new accounting standards and interpretations below.

accounting Standard/Interpretation effective Date

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131,  
132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 January 2018

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
[part e Financial Instruments]

1 January 2018

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 1 January 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 1 January 2017, except amendments 
to AASB 9 (Dec 2009) and AASB 9 
(Dec 2010) apply 1 January 2018.

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
– effective Date of AASB 15

1 January 2018

AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
– Deferral of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities

1 January 2019

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
– Clarifications to AASB 15

1 January 2018

AASB 16 leases 1 January 2019

2. Funding Delivery of Our Services

Introduction

State trustees limited overall purpose is to help Victorians with their financial needs so they can make the most of  
their opportunities. It’s principal activities during the year were acting as trustee, executor, financial administrator, 
attorney and provider of other fiduciary and agency services. It charges commission and fees for services provided 
and receives funding from the State of Victoria under a service agreement.

Income is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the income can be reliably measured. Where 
applicable, amounts disclosed as income are net of returns, allowances, duties and taxes.

H. Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2.1 Summary of Income from Delivery of Services

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

INCOMe

Income from delivery of services

– Commissions and fees 53,337 48,092

– Community Service Agreement revenue 18,031 17,678

total 71,368 65,770

Income from delivery of services is recognised on an accruals basis when the services are provided and the following 
specific recognition criteria is met:

Commissions and fees

Commissions and fees are charged and earned pursuant to the published schedule of fees. Income is recognised  
on an accruals basis when the service is provided.

Deceased estate capital commission income accrual

Commission is accrued over the estate service period. Income is recognised on a proportionate basis, during the 
estate service period based on work performed in line with the defined milestones that result in the settlement of  
the estate. our benchmarks for this are 31 weeks for a low value estate to 39 weeks for a standard/complex estate. 
the time taken to administer an estate can vary due to legal or other circumstances. the fees and charges vary  
due to the estimates used for estate values and commission rates through the estate service period.

Property sales commission income accrual

Commission is accrued on client properties sold but not settled at reporting date. Income is recognised on  
a proportionate basis of work performed to date.

Community Service agreement (CSa) Income

Income is received from the State of Victoria under the CSA. this income is based on State trustees limited 
providing financial services management to the community as defined by the agreement, and is recognised  
on an accruals basis when the service is provided.
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2.2 other Income

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

INCOMe

Other income

– Interest received 288 327

– Distributions from managed investments 349 363

– net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value 222 (27)

total 859 663

Interest revenue

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. this is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective 
interest rate. this rate discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividends and trust distributions

Dividends and trust distributions are recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.

3. the Cost of Delivering Services

Introduction

this note provides an account of the expenses incurred by State trustees limited in the delivery of services and 
outputs. In note 2, the funds that enable the provision of services was disclosed and in this note the cost 
associated with the provision of services are recorded.
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3.1 expenses Incurred in the Delivery of Services

Consolidated entity Notes
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

employee benefits expense 3.1.1 39,431 39,069

lease rental charges – operating leases 4,623 4,725

Audit expenses 180 201

other operating expenses 10,943 10,922 

total expenses 55,178 54,917

Other operating expenses

– Corporate 4,181 3,983

– Building and office 3,160 3,200

– Marketing and advertising 1,210 1,405

– Information system 2,020 1,922

– travel and motor vehicle 327 314

– other 45 98

total other operating expenses 10,943 10,922

other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. It also 
includes bad debts expense from transactions that are mutually agreed.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. the carrying 
amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when the inventories are distributed.

Operating lease payments (including contingent rentals) are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the 
use of the leased asset.

3.1.1 employee Benefits in the Comprehensive operating Statement

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Superannuation expense 3,048 3,091

termination benefits 458 453

Salaries and wages, annual leave and long service leave 35,924 35,525

total employee benefits 39,431 39,069

employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave 
entitlements, termination payments and WorkCover premiums. the amount recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement in relation to superannuation is employer contributions for members of superannuation plans 
that are paid or payable during the reporting period.
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termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an 
employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. termination benefits are 
recognised when the entity is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result  
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of  
the reporting period are discounted to present value.

3.1.2 employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet

provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service 
leave (lSl) for services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services  
are delivered.

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Current provisions

annual leave

unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 1,764 1,724

unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 301 356

Long service leave

unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 852 449

unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 2,156 2,689

Provisions for on-costs

unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 399 331

unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 376 465

total Current provisions for employee entitlements 5,848 6,013

Non-current provisions

employee entitlements (long service leave) 724 680

on-costs (long service leave) 111 122

total Non-current provisions for employee entitlements 835 802

total provisions for employee entitlements 6,683 6,815

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave: liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and on-costs) are recognised as part of the employee benefit provision as current liabilities, 
because the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

the liability for salaries and wages are recognised in the balance sheet at remuneration rates which are current at  
the reporting date. As the entity expects the liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, they 
are measured at undiscounted amounts.
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the annual leave liability is classified as a current liability and measured at the undiscounted amount expected to be 
paid, as the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period.

no provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and it is not considered probable that  
the average sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future. As sick leave is 
non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it is taken.

employment on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are not employee benefits. 
they are disclosed separately as a component of the provision for employee benefits when the employment to which 
they relate has occurred.

unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability, even where the entity does not expect to settle the liability 
within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should 
an employee take leave within 12 months.

the components of this current lSl liability are measured at:

•	 undiscounted value: if the entity expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

•	 present value: if the entity does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. there is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. this non-current lSl is measured at 
present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current lSl liability is recognised as a transaction, 
except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised  
as an ‘other economic flow’ in the net result.

3.1.3 Superannuation Contributions

employees of State trustees limited are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the entity contributes  
to defined contribution plans.

paid contribution  
for the year

Contribution outstanding  
at year end

Consolidated entity $000s 2017 2016 2017 2016

Defined contribution plans

MlC Super 1,538 1,658 27 23

other 1,464 1,366 27 22

total 3,002 3,024 54 45
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4. Key assets available to support Service Delivery

State trustees limited controls assets and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives  
and conducting its activities. they represent the resources to be utilised for delivery of its services.

4.1 total property, plant and equipment

Gross carrying amount Accumulated depreciation net carrying amount 

Consolidated entity 
$000s 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

leasehold 14,780 14,729 (4,590) (3,620) 10,190 11,109

Furniture & Fittings 3,526 3,905 (1,114) (1,346) 2,412 2,559

Computer & office equipment 9,826 9,138 (6,633) (5,158) 3,193 3,980

Motor Vehicles 389 397 (207) (190) 182 207

System Development 1,382 1,374 (890) (694) 492 680

WIp – 9 – – – 9

total 29,903 29,552 (13,434) (11,008) 16,469 18,544

Initial recognition: Items of property, plant and equipment, are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued 
at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the 
cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition.

the cost of constructed non-financial physical assets includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct 
labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.

the cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the 
lease or their estimated useful lives.

Subsequent measurement: property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Fair value is determined with regard to the asset’s highest and best use (considering 
legal or physical restrictions imposed on the asset).

Fair value for plant and equipment that are specialised in use (such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going 
concern) is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method.
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4.1.1 Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Charge for the period

– leasehold improvements 969 1,214

– Furniture and fittings 239 363

– Computer and office equipment 1,491 2,121

– Motor vehicles 63 75

2,762 3,773

Amortisation

– System development 196 248

– Intangibles 1,888 1,983

2,084 2,231

total 4,846 6,004

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets that have finite 
useful lives, are depreciated. the exceptions to this rule include items under operating leases.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated 
residual value, over its estimated useful life.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows:

Category 2017 2016

leasehold improvements lease term lease term

Furniture and fittings 5-20 years 5-20 years

Computers 2-4 years 2-4 years

AV equipment 10 years 10 years

office equipment 5-7 years 5-7 years

telephone system 5 years 5 years

System development (non-Stratis)

– Hardware 4 years 4 years

– Software 3-7 years 3-7 years

System development (Stratis Client database) 3 years 3 years

Motor vehicles 4 years 4 years
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the estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period, and adjustments made where appropriate.

leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

Impairment: non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. the assets concerned are tested as to whether their 
carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the difference is written off as an ‘other economic flow’, except to the extent that it can be debited to an asset 
revaluation surplus amount applicable to that class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its 
recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

the recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value 
less costs to sell. Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the higher 
of the present value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to sell.

4.1.2 Reconciliation of movements in carrying amount of property, plant and equipment

Consolidated 
entity 
$’000

leasehold
Furniture & 

Fittings

Computer  
& office 

equipment
Motor  

Vehicles
System 

Development WIp total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

opening Value 11,109 12,350 2,559 2,834 3,980 6,043 207 89 680 2,778 9 2,046 18,544 26,140

Additions  
at cost

– 5 – 21 – 228 – 193 – 92 760 3 760 542

Disposals  
at cost

– (497) (471) (112) (18) (425) (46) (213) – (17) – – (535) (1,264)

Accumulated 
Depreciation on 
disposals

– 484 471 105 15 234 46 213 – 203 – – 532 1,239

Capitalisation  
of assets

50 (19) 92 74 581 259 38 – 8 218 (769) (532) – –

Capitalisation/ 
transfer of 
Intangible assets

– – – – 126 (238) – – – (2,346) – (1,508) 126 (4,092)

Depreciation (969) (1,214) (239) (363) (1,491) (2,121) (63) (75) (196) (248) – – (2,958) (4,021)

Closing Balance 10,190 11,109 2,412 2,559 3,193 3,980 182 207 492 680 – 9 16,469 18,544
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4.2 Intangible Assets

Computer Software WIp total

Consolidated entity 
$000s 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Gross carrying amount

Opening balance 10,805 5,306 1,685 – 12,490 5,306

Additions at cost – 177 611 1,553 611 1,730

Capitalisation of assets 2,150 1,376 (2,150) (1,376) – – 

Capitalisation/transfer  
of Intangible assets

20 3,946 (146) 1,508 (126) 5,454

Closing Balance 12,975 10,805 – 1,685 12,975 12,490

accumulated depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment

Opening balance (4,345) (1,000) – – (4,345) (1,000)

transfer of accumulated 
depreciation on transfer

– (1,362) – – – (1,362)

Depreciation for the year (1,888) (1,983) – – (1,888) (1,983)

Closing Balance (6,233) (4,345) – – (6,233) (4,345)

Net Book Value  
at end of financial year 6,742 6,460 – 1,685 6,742 8,145

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs incurred subsequent to 
initial acquisition are capitalised when it is expected that additional future economic benefits will flow to the entity.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 3-7 years.

When the recognition criteria in AASB 138 Intangible Assets are met, internally generated intangible assets are 
recognised and measured at cost less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and impairment.

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (and intangible assets not yet available for use) are tested annually for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with finite useful lives 
are tested for impairment whenever an indication of impairment is identified.

the policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in section 4.1.1.
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4.3 Investments and other Financial Assets

4.3.1 Investments

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Current Investments and Other Financial assets

Managed Investment Schemes – Interests in inveSt Funds

> Diversified income 14,069 7,433

> Australian equity 3,465 2,640

total Managed Investment Schemes 17,535 10,073

Australian currency term deposits > three months(a) 14,100 6,000

total Current Investments and Other Financial assets 31,635 16,073

Notes

(a) term deposits under ‘Investment and other financial assets’ class include only term deposits with maturity of 90 days or greater.

ageing analysis of investments

Consolidated entity 
$000s

Carrying 
amount

Not past  
due and not 

impaired

Past due  
and not 

impaired

2017

term deposits 14,100 14,100 –

Managed investment schemes 17,535 17,535 –

total 31,635 31,635 –

2016

term deposits 6,000 6,000 –

Managed investment schemes 10,073 10,073 –

total 16,073 16,073 –
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4.3.2 other Financial Assets – Cash and Deposits

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Cash on hand and at bank 7,262 6,187

Short term money market deposits at call – 3,102

total cash assets 7,262 9,289

5. Other assets and Liabilities

5.1 Receivables

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Contractual

Receivables 3,897 3,172

less: provision for doubtful debts (445) (172)

Accrued income 9,728 8,392

total contractual receivables 13,180 11,392

Other receivables

Advances to clients (a) 2,275 2,275

total current receivables 15,455 13,667

represented by  
Current receivables 15,455 13,667

Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as ‘loans and receivables’. they are 
initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement 
they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Notes

(a) Advances to clients are subject to an approval process prior to issue and are periodically reviewed for impairment by management.

Movement in provision for doubtful debts

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Balance at beginning of year (172) (63)

Increase in provision recognised in the net result (501) (162)

Reversal of provision of receivables written off during the year as uncollectable 228 53

Balance at end of the year (445) (172)
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Doubtful debts

Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on a regular basis at an operating unit level. A provision for 
doubtful debts (provision for impairment) is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Group may not  
be able to collect the receivable and bad debts are written off when identified.

Financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments or debts more than 60 days overdue may be considered 
objective evidence of impairment.

A provision is made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods when there is objective evidence 
that an individual receivable is impaired. the increase in the provision for the year is recognised in the net result.

ageing analysis of contractual receivables

Carrying 
amount

Not past  
due and not 

impaired

past due but not impaired

Carrying amount ($’000)
Less than  

1 month
1-3  

months
3 months  

-1 year
1-5  

years

2017 Consolidated 13,180 11,713 368 373 450 276

2016 Consolidated 11,392 10,484 225 98 300 285

other balances within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected that these 
other balances will be received when due. the receivables will be realised when the business finalises the relevant 
client files. the majority of these relate to Deceased estates products which are still open, but are waiting on further 
actions (which include legal related issues) to be finalised with outstanding liabilities to be settled.

5.2 payables

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Contractual

Supplies and services 1,409 582

unearned income 647 817

Staffing costs and packages 1,339 1,262

other payables 6,145 4,160

total Contractual Payables 9,540 6,821

Statutory

GSt payable 335 375

total payables 9,875 7,196

represented by 
Current payables 9,875 7,196
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payables consist of:

•	 Contractual payables: trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and due to their short term nature 
they are not discounted. they represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect 
of the purchase of these goods and services. these amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days  
of recognition. no interest is charged on payables unless States trustees limited is in breach of our contractual 
agreements. terms and conditions vary according to contractual agreements with that creditor.

•	 Statutory payables: are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, are not classified as financial 
instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise 
from contracts.

Maturity analysis of contractual payables (a)

Carrying 
amount

Nominal 
amount

Maturity dates

Carrying amount ($’000)
Less than  

1 month
1-3  

months
3 months  

-1 year
1-5  

years

2017 Consolidated 9,540 9,540 9,540 – – –

2016 Consolidated 6,821 6,821 6,821 – – –

Note:

(a) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cashflows

5.3 other non-Financial Assets

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Current other assets

prepayments 1,743 1,685

other non-financial assets include prepayments, which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or 
services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

6. How we Financed Our Operations

Introduction

this section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by State trustees limited during its operations, 
and other information related to it’s financing activities.

this section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments such as cash balances. note 7.1 provides 
additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.
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6.1 Cashflow Information and Balances

Cash and deposits

Cash and deposits recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and 
those highly liquid investments (with an original maturity of three months or less), which are held for the purpose  
of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes, and which are readily convertible  
to known amounts of cash with an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts, which are 
included as borrowings on the balance sheet.

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Cash on hand and at bank 4.3.2 7,262 6,187

Short term money market deposits at call 4.3.2 – 3,102

total cash assets 7,262 9,289

reconciliation of net result for the period to cash flow from operating activities

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Net result after income tax for the period 9,385 3,141

Non-cash movements

– (Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant & equipment – 16

– Depreciation and amortisation expense 4,846 6,004

– provision for Doubtful Debts 273 109

– unrealised loss/(Gain) on corporate investments (222) (87)

Changes in assets and liabilities

– Increase/(decrease) in Income tax equivalent payable 2,204 (2,187)

– Decrease/(increase) in Deferred taxes (665) 2,373

– Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (131) (390)

– Decrease/(increase) in trade and other Receivables (2,940) (1,113)

– Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and other Assets (57) 54

– Increase/(decrease) in trade and other Creditors 3,560 (723)

Net cash inflow from/(used in) operating activities 16,253 7,197
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6.2 Commitments for expenditure

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts.  
these commitments are recorded below at their nominal value and inclusive of GSt.

total commitments payable

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Operating lease commitments

not later than one year 4,323 3,794

later than one year but not later than five years 16,492 15,244

later than five years 52,016 50,966

total Operating lease commitments (inclusive of GSt) 72,831 70,004

less GSt recoverable (6,621) (6,364)

total Operating lease commitments (exclusive of GSt) 66,210 63,640

the operating lease commitments reflect our lease obligations for leasehold premises. this includes the Dandenong, 
Bendigo and Footscray leases over the non-optional lease period. each lease has agreed annual increases that have 
been factored into the commitment and no lease is subject to market reviews in the non-optional lease period. there 
are no purchase options, or escalation clauses and lease renewals are subject to mutual agreement by all parties.

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Operating expenditure contracted for is payable as follows:

not later than one year 342 300

later than one year but not later than five years 920 992

later than five years 2,457 2,390

Operating expenditure commitments 3,719 3,682

7. risks, Contingencies and Valuation judgements

State trustees limited is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to 
make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. 
this section sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures to financial risks) as well as 
those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which related mainly  
to fair value determination.
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7.1 Financial Instruments Specific Disclosures

Introduction

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and  
a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Categories of financial instruments

the Group’s principal financial instruments are categorised as follows:

•	 cash and deposits;

•	 receivables (excluding statutory receivables);

•	 term deposits;

•	 investments in managed investment schemes;

•	 advances to clients; and

•	 payables.

Loans and receivables and cash are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are  
not quoted on an active market. these assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method (and for assets, less any impairment).

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through net result are categorised as such at trade date, or if they are 
classified as held for trading or designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial instrument assets are designated 
at fair value through profit or loss on the basis that the financial assets form part of a group of financial assets that  
are managed based on their fair values and have their performance evaluated in accordance with documented risk 
management and investment strategies. Financial instruments at fair value through net result are initially measured 
at fair value; attributable transaction costs are expensed as incurred. Subsequently, any changes in fair value are 
recognised in the net result as other economic flows. the Groups financial assets consist of investments in unlisted 
trusts which are valued at the redemption value per unit as reported by the manager of the investments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. they are initially 
measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial 
instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest bearing liability, using the effective 
interest rate method. the Group recognises payables (excluding statutory payables) as liabilities in this category.

Derecognition of financial assets: Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or been transferred.

Impairment of financial assets: At the end of each reporting period, State trustees limited assesses whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, 
except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

the allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) 
financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using 
estimates, averages and other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.
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reclassification of financial instruments: Subsequent to initial recognition and under rare circumstances,  
non-derivative financial instruments assets that have not been designated at fair value through profit or loss upon 
recognition, may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category, if they are no longer held for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.

Financial instrument assets that meet the definition of loans and receivables may be reclassified out of the fair value 
through profit and loss category into the loans and receivables category, where they would have met the definition of 
loans and receivables had they not been required to be classified as fair value through profit and loss. In these cases, 
the financial instrument assets may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit and loss category, if there is 
the intention and ability to hold them for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. the difference in 
the respective carrying amounts is recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in the comprehensive operating statement.

7.1.1 Financial Instruments Categorisation (a)

Consolidated entity 
2017

Contractual 
financial 

assets/
liabilities 

designated 
at fair value 

through 
profit/loss

Contractual 
financial 

assets/
liabilities 
held-for- 
trading at 
fair value 

through 
profit/loss

Contractual 
financial 

assets 
– loans and 
receivables

Contractual 
financial 

assets 
– available 

-for-sale

Contractual 
financial 

liabilities at 
amortised 

cost
total 

$000s

Contractual Financial assets

Cash and deposits – – 7,262 – – 7,262

Receivables – – 13,180 – – 13,180

Advances to clients – – 2,275 – – 2,275

term deposits – – 14,100 – – 14,100

Interests in inveSt funds

> Diversified income 14,069 – – – – 14,069

> Australian equity 3,465 – – – – 3,465

total Contractual Financial assets 17,535 – 36,817 – – 54,352

Contractual Financial liabilities

Accounts payable – – – – 9,540 9,540

total Contractual Financial liabilities – – – – 9,540 9,540

Note:

(a) the total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. GSt input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).
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7.1.1 Financial Instruments Categorisation (a) (continued)

Consolidated entity 
2016

Contractual 
financial 

assets/
liabilities 

designated 
at fair value 

through 
profit/loss

Contractual 
financial 

assets/
liabilities 
held-for- 
trading at 
fair value 

through 
profit/loss

Contractual 
financial 

assets 
– loans and 
receivables

Contractual 
financial 

assets 
– available 

-for-sale

Contractual 
financial 

liabilities at 
amortised 

cost
total 

$000s

Contractual Financial assets

Cash and deposits – – 9,289  –  –  9,289

Receivables –  –  11,392  –  –  11,392

Advances to clients  –  –  2,275  –  – 2,275

term deposits  –  –  6,000  –  – 6,000

Interests in inveSt funds

> Diversified income  7,433  –  –  –  – 7,433

> Australian equity  2,640  –  –  –  –  2,640 

total Contractual Financial assets  10,073  – 28,955  –  – 39,029 

Contractual Financial liabilities

Accounts payable –  – –  –  6,821  6,821

total Contractual Financial liabilities  –  –  –  –  6,821  6,821

Note:

(a) the total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. GSt input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).
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7.1.2 Financial Instruments – net Holding Gain/(loss) by Category

Consolidated entity 
2017

Net holding 
gain/(loss)

total 
interest 
income/

(expense)
Fee income 

(expense)
Impairment 

Loss 
total  

$000s

Contractual Financial assets

Financial assets designated at fair value  
through profit/loss

363 – – – 363

Financial assets – loans and receivables – 496 – – 496

total Contractual Financial assets 363 496 – – 859

2016

Contractual Financial assets

Financial assets designated at fair value  
through profit/loss

336 – – – 336

Financial assets – loans and receivables – 327 – – 327

total Contractual Financial assets 336 327 – – 663

Note: 
Amounts disclosed in this table exclude holding gains and losses related to statutory financial assets and liabilities.

the net holding gains or losses disclosed above are determined as follows:

•	 for cash and cash equivalents, loans or receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the net gain or loss is 
calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, the interest income, minus any impairment 
recognised in the net result; and

•	 for financial asset and liabilities that are held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, the net 
gain or loss is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the financial asset or liability.
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7.1.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk

Market riskLiquidity risk

Financial risks

Credit risk

Foreign currency risk

equity price risk

As a whole, the Group’s financial risk management program seeks to manage these risks and the associated volatility 
of its financial performance.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis  
of measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial 
asset, financial liability and equity instrument above are disclosed in note 7.3 to the financial statements.  
the financial instruments’ main purpose is to generate a return on the Group’s investments.

the main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, market risk, and liquidity 
and cash flow risk. these risks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact on the results from 
reasonably possible changes in the relevant risk variables. Information about these risk exposures at the reporting date, 
measured on this basis, is disclosed below. Information about the total fair value of financial instruments exposed to 
risk, as well as compliance with established investment mandate limits, is also monitored by Management and the 
Investment Committee and reported on a monthly basis.

Financial instruments: Credit risk

the Group’s credit risk involves counterparties’ failure to perform contractual obligations that will cause the Group 
to incur financial losses. Concentrations of credit risk are minimised primarily by ensuring:

•	 transactions are undertaken with a diverse range of counterparties, a large amount with the Victorian 
Department of Health and Human Services;

•	 A majority of transactions are undertaken with clients under our administration.

In addition, receivables balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that exposure to bad debts has 
not been significant. there is no material exposure to a group of counterparties that is expected to be affected 
similarly by changes in economic or other conditions. the carrying amount of financial assets that is recorded in  
the financial statements represents the maximum exposure to credit risk.
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Financial instruments: Liquidity and cash flow risk

liquidity risk is the risk in either realising assets or otherwise raising sufficient funds to satisfy commitments 
associated with the Group’s operations. Cash flow risk relates to the fluctuations in future cash flows from holding 
financial instruments. Risk management guidelines adopted that are designed to minimise liquidity and cash flow 
risk are: 

•	 ensuring substantial cash reserves are held by the entity with major Australian banks;

•	 ensuring there is no significant exposure to illiquid or thinly-traded financial instruments; and

•	 Applying limits to ensure that there is no concentration of liquidity risk to a particular counterparty or market.

the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

Financial instruments: Market risk

the Group’s exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk and equity price risk. Market risk is the 
risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables 
such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. Market risk is managed and monitored using 
sensitivity analysis, and minimised through ensuring that all investment activities are undertaken in accordance  
with established mandate limits and investment strategies. this risk exposure is managed by diversifying 
investments and managing to a conservative asset allocation model. Financial investments in growth assets 
(exposure to listed domestic equities through investment in managed investment schemes) are 15% and financial 
investments in defensive assets (exposure to cash and fixed interest through investments in managed investment 
schemes and cash deposits with financial institutions) are 85%. State trustees limited is indirectly exposed to 
market risk by holding units in the inveSt Funds. the performance of the inveSt Funds due to the market risk can 
impact upon the distributions received from our unit holdings, the underlying value of these unit holdings as well  
as the fees earned from State trustees limited being the responsible entity of the funds.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due  
to changes in foreign exchange rates. there is no significant direct foreign exchange risk exposure to the Group.

equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in market prices, whether 
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual stock or broader economic factors affecting equity 
markets as a whole. equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s investment in Managed Investment Schemes.

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cashflows or the fair 
values of financial instruments. the Group has established limits on investments in interest bearing assets, which  
are monitored weekly. the Group’s exposure to interest rates is limited to cash and short term deposits as disclosed 
in note 4.3.2. the Group has no borrowings.
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Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on management’s expectations.

to monitor existing financial assets and liabilities as well as to enable an effective controlling of future risks, State trustees 
limited monitors risk through reporting that reflects expectations of future settlement of financial assets and liabilities. 
the risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows.

Consolidated entity 
2017

<1 months 
$000s

1-3 months 
$000s

3-12 months 
$000s

1-5 years 
$000s

>5 years 
$000s

total  
$000s

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 7,262 – – – – 7,262

Receivables 13,180 – – – – 13,180

Advances to clients – – – – 2,275 2,275

term deposits 1,000 4,250 8,850 – – 14,100

Interests in inveSt Funds

> Diversified income 14,069 – – – – 14,069

> Australian equity 3,465 – – – – 3,465

total financial assets 38,977 4,250 8,850 – 2,275 54,352

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable (contractual) 9,540 – – – – 9,540

total financial liabilities 9,540 – – – – 9,540

2016

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 9,289 – – – – 9,289

Receivables 11,392 – – – – 11,392

Advances to clients – – – – 2,275 2,275

term deposits 2,000 4,000 – – – 6,000

Interests in inveSt Funds

> Diversified income 7,433 – – – – 7,433

> Australian equity 2,640 – – – – 2,640

total financial assets 36,753 – – – 2,275 39,029

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable (contractual) 6,821 – – – – 6,821

total financial liabilities 6,821 – – – – 6,821
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Sensitivity disclosure analysis and assumptions

the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to interest rates and the Group’s 
sensitivity to interest rate risk are set out in the table that follows.

Interest rate exposure of financial instruments

Interest Rate exposure

Consolidated entity  
2017

Weighted 
average 
Interest 
rate %

Carrying 
amount 

$000s

Fixed 
Interest 

rate  
$000s

Variable 
Interest 

rate  
$000s

Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

$000s

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 1.70% 7,262 – 7,262 –

Receivables nil 13,180 – – 13,180

Advances to clients 2.49% 2,275 – 2,275 –

term deposits 2.38% 14,100 14,100 – –

Interests in inveSt Funds

> Diversified income nil 14,069 – – 14,069

> Australian equity nil 3,465 – – 3,465

total financial assets 54,352 14,100 9,537 30,714

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable (contractual) nil 9,540 – – 9,540

total financial liabilities 9,540 – – 9,540

Consolidated entity  
2016

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 1.67% 9,289 – 9,286 3

Receivables nil 11,392 – – 11,392

Advances to clients 2.62% 2,275 – 2,275 –

term deposits 2.81% 6,000 6,000 – –

Interests in inveSt Funds

> Diversified income nil 7,433 – – 7,433

> Australian equity nil 2,640 – – 2,640

total financial assets 39,029 6,000 11,561 21,468

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable (contractual) nil 6,821 – – 6,821

total financial liabilities 6,821 – – 6,821
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Interest rate risk sensitivity

– 100 basis points + 100 basis points

Consolidated entity 2017 
$000s

Carrying 
amount

Net  
result

available- 
for-sale 

revaluation 
surplus

Net  
result

available- 
for-sale 

revaluation 
surplus

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits 7,262  (73) – 73 –

total impact 7,262 (73) – 73 –

Consolidated entity 2016

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits 9,289 (93) – 93 –

total impact 9,289 (93) – 93 –

the amounts above are before the impact of income tax.

7.2 Contingent Assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed and, if 
quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GSt 
receivable or payable respectively.

Contingent assets: nil (2016: nil) 
Contingent liabilities: nil (2016: nil)

7.3 Fair Value Determination

Significant Judgement: Fair Value measurements of assets and Liabilities

Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. this section discloses the most significant 
assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes to assumptions could have a material impact on the Group’s 
results and financial position.

this section sets out information on how the Group determined fair value for financial reporting purposes. Fair value 
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.

the following assets and liabilities are carried at fair value:

•	 financial assets and liabilities at fair value through operating result;

•	 available-for-sale financial assets; and

•	 land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment;

In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities that are carried at amortised cost, also need to be 
determined for disclosure purposes.

the Group determines the policies and procedures for determining fair values for both financial and non-financial 
assets and liabilities as required.
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Fair Value Hierarchy

In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. to increase consistency and comparability in the financial 
statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. the levels are as follows:

•	 level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•	 level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
is directly or indirectly observable; and

•	 level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
is unobservable.

the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the 
end of each reporting period.

7.3.1 Fair Value Determination of Financial Assets and liabilities

the table below shows that the fair values of most of the contractual financial assets and liabilities are the same  
as the carrying amounts.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments valued at amortised Cost

Consolidated entity

Carrying 
amount  

2017  
$000s

Fair Value  
2017 

$000s

Carrying 
amount  

2016  
$000s

Fair Value  
2016  

$000s

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 7,262 7,262 9,289 9,289

Receivables 13,180 13,180 11,392 11,392

Advances to clients 2,275 2,275 2,275 2,275

term deposits 14,100 14,100 6,000 6,000

Interests in inveSt Funds –

> Diversified Income 14,069 14,069 7,433 7,433

> Australian equity 3,465 3,465 2,640 2,640

total financial assets 54,352 54,352 39,029 39,029 

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable (contractual) 9,540 9,540 6,821 6,821

total financial liabilities 9,540 9,540 6,821 6,821
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments Valued at Fair Value

Consolidated entity 
2017

Carrying 
amount 

$000s
Level 1  
$000s

Level 2  
$000s

Level 3 
$000s 

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 7,262 7,262 – –

Receivables 13,180 – 13,180 –

Advances to clients 2,275 – 2,275 –

term deposits 14,100 14,100 – – 

Interests in inveSt Funds

> Diversified Income 14,069 – 14,069 –

> Australian equity 3,465 – 3,465 –

total Financial assets 54,352 21,362 32,989 – 

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable (contractual) 9,540 – 9,540 –

total Financial Liabilities 9,540 – 9,540 –

Notes: 
there were no significant transfers between level 1 and level 2.

2016

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 9,289 9,289 – –

Receivables 11,392 – 11,392 –

Advances to clients 2,275 – 2,275 –

term deposits 6,000 6,000 – –

Interests in inveSt Funds

> Diversified Income 7,433 – 7,433 –

> Australian equity 2,640 – 2,640 –

total Financial assets 39,029 15,289 23,740 –

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable (contractual) 6,821 – 6,821 –

total Financial Liabilities 6,821 – 6,821 –

Notes:  
there were no significant transfers between level 1 and level 2.

the fair value of investments in unlisted unit trusts has been determined by reference to quoted redemption prices 
as reported by the manager of these investments.
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8. Other Disclosures

Introduction

this section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

Structure

8.1 Contributed equity

8.2 Client assets under management

8.3 Income tax expense, assets and liabilities

8.3.1 Income tax equivalent expense

8.3.2  Income tax deferred assets and liabilities

8.4 Reserves

8.5 Controlled entities

8.6  parent entity Information – State trustees limited

8.7 economic dependency

8.8 Remuneration of auditors 

8.9  other Significant accounting judgments,  
estimates and assumptions

8.9.1 Bonus provision

8.9.2  Determination of Control over  
other entities

8.9.3  Compliance with International Finance  
Reporting Standards

8.10 Responsible persons

8.11 Remuneration of executives

8.12 Related party disclosures

8.13 Workforce Data Disclosure

8.14 Advertising expenditure

8.15  Information and Communication technology  
(ICt) expenditure

8.16 Consultancy expenditure

8.17 Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

8.18 Statement of operations by segments

8.19   Registered office

8.1 Contributed equity

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Share capital

ordinary shares 
(12,461,664 fully paid shares, 2016: 12,461,664) 12,462 12,462

Contribution from owners 4,899 4,899

total Share Capital 17,361 17,361

the entity has only one shareholder, the State of Victoria, which owns all the ordinary shares. this entitles the holder 
to receive dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company that is in proportion to the number of, and 
amounts paid on, the shares held.
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ordinary shares of State trustees limited are classified as equity, government contribution received/receivable  
for which the Department of treasury and Finance made a specific designation as contribution from owners and  
are treated as capital contribution, without the issuing of shares.

8.2 Client assets under management

total client assets under management and trusteeship were as follows. these amounts are not reflected in the 
Statement of Financial position as they are held in trust on behalf of the entities’ clients.

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Investments, real estate, personal, and other assets 1,035,071 1,002,518

Client investments in Common Funds 1,062,308 920,571

total assets under Management and trusteeship 2,097,379 1,923,089

8.3 Income tax expense, assets and liabilities

the Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgment as to the types of arrangements 
considered to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost. Judgment is also required in assessing whether 
deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial position. 
Deferred tax assets, including those arising from tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences are recognised 
only where it is considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of 
sufficient future taxable profits.

Income tax equivalent

State trustees limited is a state government owned company listed on the register of the national tax equivalent 
Regime. As such, it is required to account for its taxation liabilities in accordance with the Income tax Assessment 
Act 1936, and the Income tax Assessment Act 1997 as required.

It pays tax as calculated in accordance with the respective taxation legislation to the Victorian Government 
Consolidated Fund.

tax Consolidation

State trustees limited has formed an income tax consolidated group consisting of State trustees limited and Stl 
Financial Services limited. State trustees limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group.

the entities within the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax-sharing 
agreement with the head entity. under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, Stl Financial Services limited  
has agreed to pay/receive a tax equivalent payment to or from State trustees limited based on the current tax asset 
or liability of the entity. Such amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to the other entity in the 
tax consolidated group.

the tax sharing agreement entered into between the members of the tax consolidated group provides for the 
determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should State trustees limited default  
on its tax payment obligations. no amounts have been recognised in the financial statements in respect of this 
agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing agreement is considered remote.
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Consolidated entity Notes
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Income tax in the Comprehensive Operating Statement

Income tax expense 8.3.1 2,819 2,371

Income tax in the Balance Sheet

Non-current assets

Deferred tax Assets 8.3.2 4,356 3,714

Current liabilities

Income tax equivalent 8.3.2 2,864 660

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 8.3.2 55 77

8.3.1 Income tax equivalent expense

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Profit/(loss) before tax 12,204 5,512

prima facie tax at 30% 3,661 1,653

tax effect of non-temporary differences:

– Imputation Credits and other (13) (15)

– entertainment 7 7

– Depreciation 3 533

– Adjustment to deferred tax assets/liabilities 666 110

– Adjustment on prior year (a) (1,505) 83

total income tax expense attributable to operating profit 2,819 2,371

total income tax expense comprises movements in:

– Current tax expense 4,353 2,328

– Deferred tax expense 666 110

– other adjustments (2,200) (66)

total Movements for the period 2,819 2,371

Note:

(a)  Adjustments on prior year include amendments for the year ended 30 June 2015 processed in the group’s 2016 Income tax Return, resulting 
in a tax refund received of $352k.
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8.3.2 Income tax Deferred Assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets/Liabilities

the calculation of deferred tax assets/liabilities are measured in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 112.  
As such, State trustees limited accounts for the tax consequences of transactions and other events in the same  
way that it accounts for the transactions and other events themselves. thus, for transactions recognised in the 
Comprehensive operating Statement, related tax effects are also recognised in the Comprehensive operating 
Statement. For transactions and other events recognised directly in equity, any related tax effects are also 
recognised in equity.

A deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability will be recognised for all temporary differences that arise for the 
difference between the carrying value of the asset or liability and its tax value.

Deferred tax assets are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future periods in respect of deductible temporary 
differences, the carry forward of unused tax losses and the carry forward of unused tax credits. A deferred tax asset 
shall be recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable 
that future profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

taxable and deductible temporary differences arise from the following:

Consolidated entity 
2017

Opening 
Balance  

$000s

Charged  
to income  

$000s

Charged  
to equity  

$000s

Closing  
Balance  

$000s

Gross deferred tax assets

– provision for doubtful debts 52 81 – 133

– provision for employee entitlements 2,381 (29) – 2,352

– provision for accrued expenses 312 339 – 651

– Accrued audit fees 58 (3) – 55

– Accrued lease expenses 911 218 – 1,129

– unrealised losses on investments – 36 – 36

3,714 642 – 4,356

Gross deferred tax liabilities

– unrealised gains on investments (14) (5) – (19)

– FBt (34) 5 – (29)

– Fixed Assets (General) (29) 22 – (7)

(77) 22 – (55)
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8.4 Reserves

Consolidated entity 
2017

reserve Fund 
(trustee 

Companies act) 
$000s

General reserve 
(aSIC/rG166 

requirements) 
$000s

total 
$000s

opening Balance at start of financial year 9,615 7,465 17,080

profits transferred to/from Reserves 872 (619) 253

Closing Balance at the end of the financial year 10,487 6,846 17,333

2016 $000s $000s $000s

opening Balance at start of financial year 9,268 7,465 16,733

profits transferred to/from Reserves 347 – 347

Closing Balance at the end of the financial year 9,615 7,465 17,080

reserve Fund (trustee Companies act) ($10,487)

under the trustee Companies Act 1984 (the Act), a reserve fund of not less than half of one per cent of the value  
of company-managed trust estates in Victoria must be provided. In the event that a liquidator, receiver or manager  
is appointed, reserve fund monies are to be paid from the trustee company according to Section 39(3) of the Act. 
Section 38 of the Act requires State trustees limited to place assets into a reserve fund. these assets must be 
managed consistent with requirements of the trustee Act 1958.

on 30 June 1999, in keeping with legislation amending the State trustees (State owned Company) Act 1994, the 
corpus amounts held by Common Funds managed by the parent entity were paid to State trustees limited with 
transfer of $872K from Retained profits in 2017 (2016: transfer of $347k from Retained profits).

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

assets comprising the reserve Fund – trustee Companies act

Cash at bank and on hand 7,262 6,187

Short term money market deposits at call: note 4.3.2 – 3,102

term deposits at call 14,100 6,000

total assets comprising the reserve Fund – trustee Companies act 21,362 15,289

Reserve fund requirements 10,487 9,615

Surplus 10,875 5,674
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General reserve – aSIC/rG166

State trustees limited has various financial requirements imposed by the Australian Securities and Investment 
Commission (ASIC) in relation to our Australian Financial Services licence.

this reserve was created during 2013/14 with the transfer of $7.879 million from Retained profits. State trustees limited 
has established a reserve account to isolate our ASIC regulatory requirements. these financial requirements are:

•	 net tangible assets;

•	 Surplus liquid funds;

•	 Adjusted surplus liquid funds; and

•	 A buffer for the adjusted surplus liquid funds.

As at 30 June 2017 we are compliant with our Australian Financial Services licence financial requirements.

8.5 Controlled entities

the consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2017 include the following controlled entities. the financial year of 
the controlled entities is the same as that of the parent entity.

place of 
incorporation

type of  
shares

Book value of parent 
entity’s investment in $

% of  
shares held

Contribution to the  
results in $000s

Controlled entity 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Stl Financial 
Services limited Australia ordinary 5.2m 5.2m 100 100 184 161

Stl Financial Services limited has $5.2 million of paid up capital which has historically supported the Australian 
Financial Services licence requirements in respect of minimum net tangible assets.

8.6 parent entity Information – State trustees limited

Information relating to State trustees Limited:
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

Current assets 48,365 33,214

non-current assets 32,762 35,597

total assets 81,127 68,811

Current liabilities 18,492 13,811

non-current liabilities 871 867

total liabilities 19,363 14,678

Issued capital 17,361 17,361

Retained earnings 27,071 17,080

General reserve 17,333 19,692

total shareholders’ equity 61,765 54,133

profit or loss of the parent entity 9,201 2,978

total comprehensive income of the parent entity 9,201 2,978

State trustees limited (parent entity) has entered into operating lease commitments and operating expenditure 
commitments as disclosed in note 6.2 of these financial statements.
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8.7 economic dependency

A significant portion of revenue is received from the State of Victoria via the Community Service Agreement. A five 
year agreement was agreed and signed by both parties until 30 June 2022. this contract is between State trustees 
limited and the Department of Health and Human Services (refer to the Statement of Comprehensive Income).

8.8 Remuneration of auditors

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

– Audit or review of the financial statements 180 201

total remuneration (exclusive of GSt)* 180 201

the audit fees are fees paid (or due to be paid) to the auditor, Victorian Auditor General’s office (VAGo), of the parent 
entity and its controlled entities.

the audit fees are paid to Victorian Auditor General’s office (VAGo) for the parent entity and its controlled entities. 
the estimate provided by VAGo is $173,300 for year ended 30 June 2017 (2016: $169,100).

the audit fees for VAGo for auditing the Common Funds and inveSt Funds where State trustees limited acts as 
trustee and responsible entity was $117,300 (2016: $114,400). these fees are in addition to the above.

the audit fees for VAGo for auditing State trustees Australia Foundation and State trustees Australia Foundation 
open Fund where State trustees limited acts as trustee was $20,550 (2016: $20,000).

State trustees limited ceased as fund manager and trustee of the Resident trust Fund during the year ending 
30 June 2016. the audit fees for VAGo for auditing the Residents trust Fund where State trustees limited acts  
as fund manager and trustee was nil (2016: $12,000).
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8.9 other Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

8.9.1 Bonus provision

Bonus provision

the calculation of the bonus provision is comprised of three components: 

•	 executive contracts;

•	 Remuneration and benefit entitlements; and

•	 In line with conditions outlined in the enterprise Agreement 2014.

Management bases its judgments and estimates on: 

•	 Historical experience;

•	 Current financial and non-financial performance; and

•	 other various factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. A portion of these estimates are  
yet to be approved by the Remuneration Committee.

8.9.2 Determination of Control over other entities

these financial statements are Consolidated Financial statements incorporating Stl Financial Services limited  
as a controlled entity. In determining whether State trustees limited has control over another entity as defined  
in AASB10, consideration has been given to the following:

•	 power over the other entity;

•	 exposure, or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the other entity; and

•	 the ability to use its power over the other entity to affect the quantity of returns it receives from that other.

8.9.3 Compliance with International Finance Reporting Standards

the financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.

8.10 Responsible persons

responsible Portfolio Minister

the following person held the position of Responsible portfolio Minister for the reporting period:

treasurer of Victoria  
the Hon. timothy Pallas  
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017
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Directors and Chief executive Officer

the following persons held the position of a director or chief executive officer during the reporting period:

Jennifer acton, Director (Chair) 
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Christopher Martin, Director 
1 July 2016 to 26 August 2016

Pam Mitchell, Director 
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Sue O’Connor, Director  
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Kathryn Watt, Director 
1 July 2016 to 13 october 2016

Mark toohey, Director  
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Cressida Wall, Director  
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

andrew Nicolaou, Director  
3 December 2016 to 30 June 2017

Helen Hambling, Director  
21 February 2017 to 30 June 2017

theo theophanous, Director  
4 April 2017 to 30 June 2017

Craig Dent, Chief executive Officer  
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

total remuneration received or receivable by responsible persons during the reporting period is disclosed in the  
table below:

Income Band
2017 

No.
2016 

No.

$0 – $9,999 2 –

$10,000 – $19,999 2 –

$20,000 – $29,999 1 2

$30,000 – $39,999 – –

$40,000 – $49,999 4 4

$50,000 – $59,999 – 1

$60,000 – $69,999 – –

$70,000 – $79,999 1 –

$430,000 – $439,999 1 1

total number 11 8

total remuneration paid or payable ($’000) $737 $683
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8.11 Remuneration of executives

the number of executive officers, other than ministers and directors, and their total remuneration during the 
reporting period are shown in the table below. total annualised employee equivalents provides a measure of full time 
equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity,  
or on behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories.

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually 
paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods 
or services.

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when 
employment has ceased.

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

the principles underlying our remuneration policies are outlined in the Corporate Governance Statement. 
Remuneration is based on the Government Sector executive Remuneration panel (GSeRp) framework. this is 
structured as a total employment cost package, delivered as a mix of cash and prescribed non-financial benefits  
at the executives’ discretion. executives receive no more than 80% of the Chief executive officer’s base salary  
(as determined by GSeRp). In addition, they are offered short-term incentives to the maximum of 20% of total  
base remuneration.

remuneration of executive Officers (included in Key Management Personnel)
2017  

$’000
2016  

$’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,643

post-employment benefits 130

total remuneration 1,773 2,222

total number of KMp’s 6 8

total annualised employee equivalents (Aee) 5.5 6.6

Notes. 
Sandy Chakravarty is currently employed as Chief Financial officer in an interim capacity through an agency. payments made during the 
2016/17 financial year were to the agency and not through the payroll system and are not included in the above table.

8.12 Related party Disclosures

the State of Victoria is the sole shareholder of State trustees limited.

Stl Financial Services limited is owned and controlled by State trustees limited. Stl Financial Services limited  
has been consolidated into the financial statements of State trustees limited.

State trustees limited is the responsible entity of the inveSt funds.
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Related parties of State trustees limited include:

•	 all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests (controlled 
entities, joint ventures and entities they have significant influence over);

•	 all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state 
consolidated financial statements.

All transactions with related parties are conducted on commercial terms and conditions.

Significant transactions with Government related entities

•	 State trustees limited receives income from the State of Victoria under the Community Services Agreement for 
the provision of financial management services to the community. During the 2017 year State trustees limited 
earned $18.031 million under this agreement (2016 $17.678 million). Refer note 2.1.

•	 During the 2017 year, State trustees limited paid dividends of $1.57 million to the State of Victoria as shareholder 
(2016 $975 thousand).

Key management personnel of State trustees limited include the portfolio Minister, Directors, the Chief executive 
officer and those executives reporting directly to the Chief executive officer.

the following table lists key management personnel:

Key Management Personnel Position title Dates Position Held

the Hon. timothy pallas Responsible portfolio Minister 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017 

Jennifer Acton Director (Chair) 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Christopher Martin Director 1 July 2016 to 26 August 2016

pam Mitchell Director 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Sue o’Connor Director 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Kathryn Watt Director 1 July 2016 to 13 october 2016

Mark toohey Director 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Cressida Wall Director 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Andrew nicolaou Director 3 December 2016 to 30 June 2017

Helen Hambling Director 21 February 2017 to 30 June 2017

theo theophanous Director 4 April 2017 to 30 June 2017

Craig Dent Chief executive officer 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Sally Kennedy executive General Manager, Information Services 1 July 2016 to 26 January 2017

Michelle Johnston
executive General Manager, people,  
Brand & Communications 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

paul Manning Chief Financial officer 1 July 2016 to 2 June 2017

Sandy Chakravarty Chief Financial officer 23 May 2017 to 30 June 2017

Melanie lewis executive General Manager, Client Services 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

Agata Jarbin executive General Manager, professional Services 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

transactions with Key Management Personnel

Significant transactions with Key Management personnel principally comprise of employment remuneration.  
Details of these transactions are outlined in the table below.

the compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the portfolio Minister receives. Minister’s 
remuneration and allowances is set by the parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1998 and is reported 
within the Department of parliamentary Service’s Financial Report.

Compensation of KMp’s total $’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,922

post-employment benefits 156

total remuneration 2,078

transactions with StL Financial Services Limited

the parent entity entered into the following transactions during the financial year with its controlled entity.  
It advanced and repaid amounts on short-term inter-company accounts. these are repayable on demand.

Consolidated entity parent entity

2017 
$000s

2016 
$000s

2017 
$000s

2016 
$000s

Inter-company receivables – – – 12

transactions with inveSt Funds 

Group Investments in the inveSt Funds:

Consolidated entity

Consolidated entity parent entity

Consolidated entity
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s
2017 

$000s
2016 

$000s

inveSt Diversified Income Fund 14,069 7,433 10,016 3,912

inveSt Australian equity Fund 3,465 2,640 1,636 1,465

total investment in inveSt funds 17,535 10,073 11,652 5,376

Fees and Commissions received from:

inveSt Funds 4,648 5,246 4,648 5,246

Common Funds 5,653 4,982 5,653 4,982

total fees and commissions* 10,301 10,228 10,301 10,228

State trustees limited received fees in its capacity as the Responsible entity of the inveSt Funds. State trustees 
limited received fees in its capacity as Manager and trustee of the Cash and Charitable Common Funds.

* Fees and commission represents amounts recognised in the Comprehensive operating Statement as revenue. this will be net of any GSt 
where applicable.
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Directors’ interests

there are no Directors’ interests in any of the Funds managed by the Group.

there are no other significant related party transactions.

8.13 Workforce Data Disclosure

ongoing employees Fixed term

employees 
(headcount)

Full time 
(headcount)

Part time 
(headcount) Fte Fte

Jun-17 380 311 69 357 27

Jun-16 420 340 80 393 38

Jun-17 Jun-16

ongoing employees Fixed term ongoing employees Fixed term

Numbers 
(headcount) Fte Fte

Numbers 
(headcount) Fte Fte

Gender

Males 128 125 11 134 131 15

Females 252 232 16 286 262 23

age

under 25 13 12 2 14 13 2

25-34 85 82 7 107 102 14

35-44 125 115 7 135 124 5

45-54 100 95 9 104 98 9

55-64 45 43 2 48 45 8

over 64 12 10 0 12 11 0

•	 All figures reflect active employees in the last full pay period of June each year.

•	 ongoing employees refers to people engaged on an open ended contract of employment and executives engaged 
on a standard executive contract who were active in the last full pay period of June.

•	 Fte means full time equivalent.

•	 excluded are those on leave without pay or absent on secondment, external contractors/consultants, and 
temporary staff employed by employment agencies along with any staff on extended leave in the last pay period 
of June each year.
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8.14 Advertising expenditure

In 2016-17, there was one advertising campaign with total media spend of $100 000 or greater (exclusive of GSt). 
the details of the campaign is outlined below.

Details of advertising expenditure (campaigns with a media spend of $100 000 or greater)

2016/2017 (000s)

Name of 
Campaign

Campaign 
Summary

Start/ 
end Date

advertising 
(Media) 

expenditure 
(GSt excl.)

Creative 
Campaign 
and devel-

opment 
expenditure 

(GSt excl.)

research 
and 

evaluation 
(GSt excl.)

Print and 
collateral 

(GSt excl.)

Other 
Campaign 

Costs  
(GSt excl.) total

Wills Registry 
& Branding 
campaign

Media 
campaign to 
increase 
awareness of 
Will writing 
and usage of 
Wills Registry.

nov-16 to 
Jun-17

111 12 – 6 – 129

total 111 12 – 6 – 129

8.15 Information and Communication technology (ICt) expenditure

For the 2016-17 reporting period, the Consolidated entity had a total ICt expenditure of $12,345,402 with the details 
shown below.

All operational ICt expenditure ICt expenditure related to projects to create or enhance ICt capabilities

(Bau) ICt  
expenditure 

$000s

total (Non-Bau) ICt 
expenditure 

$000s

Operational  
expenditure 

$000s

Capital  
expenditure 

$000s

total $8,803 $3,542 $2,586 $956
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8.16 Consultancy expenditure

Details of Consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)

Consultant Purpose of Consultancy

total approved 
Project Fee 
(excl. GSt) 

$’000

expenditure 
2016/17  

(excl. GSt) 
$’000

Ascender pay pty ltd payroll tax patch & leave provision reporting 10 10

BDo east Coast partnership Advisory services – Budgeting Audit 13 13

Bevington Consulting pty ltd process reengineering 112 112

Chant West pty ltd Investment tender 28 28

Converga pty ltd paperlite project 138 138

experian Consulting Data quality improvement 18 18

FinancialForce.com Inc Financial force system implementation 85 85

KpMG Advisory services for pricing models 136 136

KpMG Advisory services for Social impact 36 36

KpMG Advisory services for Car parking FBt 11 11

nous Group pty ltd SCCM Implementation & Strategy pricing 87 87

objective Corporation limited objective upgrades including paperlite implementation 248 248

Robert Walters pty ltd Staff hire including contractors & temp resources 114 114

Sema operations pty ltd paperlite project 23 23

Shel Sweeney Development of Stl Corporate History 16 16

System partners pty ltd Various Systems review and implementation 125 125

Votar partners pty ltd paperlite digitalisation project 28 28

Assure employee assistance programme 15 15

Axway pty ltd File managed transfer solution 17 17

Circle t Industries pty ltd power BI enhancement 77 77

DWS t/A Wallis nominees 
(Computing)

template development 70 70

Granite Consulting pty ltd Systems review & enhancement 104 104

IReSS Advisernet system development 31 31

Kenmore Quest pty ltd Imaging backlog systemen development 30 30

neoData Australia pty ltd VeRGl Development 97 97

Rubicon Red pty ltd paperlite digitalisation project 262 262

Shelde pty ltd Cloud data security cost & Imaging backlog 30 30

Synergy Asia pacific pty ltd office 365 15 15

thomas Duryea logicalis pty ltd SCCM Implementation 82 82

trusted Impact pty ltd System Security testing 19 19

total 2,076 2,076

Details of consultancies under $10,000

In 2016/17, there were 8 consultancies engaged during the year, where the total fees payable to the individual 
consultants was less than $10,000. the total expenditure incurred during 2016/17 in relation to these consultancies 
was $34,075 (GSt excl.).
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8.17 Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

no circumstance has arisen that has affected or may significantly affect State trustees limited’s operations since 
30 June 2017.

8.18 Statement of operations by segments

the consolidated entity provides trustee and related financial services and operates predominantly within Victoria.

8.19 Registered office

State trustees limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office 
and principal place of business is:

1 Mcnab Avenue 
Footscray, Victoria 3011
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Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of State trustees limited, we state that: 

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
note 8.9.3; and

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that State trustees limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

on behalf of the Board

the Honourable Professor Jennifer acton  
Chair

Mark toohey 
Director

Melbourne, 24 August 2017
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Note:

Independent Auditor’s Report

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Directors of State Trustees Limited 

Opinion I have audited the consolidated financial report of State Trustees Limited and its 
controlled entity (together the Group), which comprises the: 

 Group balance sheet as at 30 June 2017 
 Group comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
 Group statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
 Group cash flow statement for the year then ended 
 notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
 Directors' declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
including: 

 giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 30 June 
2017 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

 complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the Act are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. 
My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for my opinion. 

Directors' 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report  

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of a financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Act 2001, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of a financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do 
so. 
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of the financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I 
also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control. 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors' use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities and business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
financial report. I am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the audit of the Group. I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion. 

  

State truSteeS
AnnuAl RepoRt 2017 101



Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

3 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 
(continued) 

I communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

I also provide the Directors with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards 

 
 
 
  

MELBOURNE 
28 August 2017 

Andrew Greaves 
Auditor-General 
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Contact
Registered offi  ce and principal place 
of business as at 30 June 2017:
1 McNab Avenue, Footscray 3011

Customer Service Centres
Shop 4, 157 Lonsdale Street, 
Dandenong 3175

41 Edward Street, Bendigo 3550

ABN 68 064 593 148
AFSL No. 238037

(03) 9667 6444
1300 138 672 
outside of metropolitan 
Melbourne area

www.statetrustees.com.au

info@statetrustees.com.au

 @StateTrustees

 company/StateTrustees
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